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NQ MINERALS PLC
NON-EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

2019 has been an excellent year operationally for NQ Minerals Plc (“NQ” or “the Company”). The Company’s first full year of
operations at our flagship Hellyer Gold Mine (“Hellyer”) operations in Tasmania, Australia, has been transformational for NQ. During
the year, we saw regular improvements on a month-over-month basis in lead and zinc concentrate production and mine site
operating profits, and we are targeting even better performances this year from this long-life asset.
We are also now venturing in to a new and exciting era of gold production with our recent deal to acquire the iconic and very rich
Beaconsfield Gold Mine in Tasmania. We should be able to leverage well off our operational and management skills in Tasmania
to create something quite special at Beaconsfield for shareholders in the years to come.
2020 should be a good year for NQ.
The COVID -19 pandemic has brought upon us unprecedented times. With some good fortune and thanks to the enormous efforts
of our staff and Management, we have continued full operational status in Tasmania during this COVID-19 crisis.
The Tasmanian Government took bold steps early on in this pandemic to isolate the State from the Australian mainland and this
has served well in limiting and containing the spread of the virus. Indeed, Hellyer has improved plant throughput through these
difficult times as part of the 2020 programme to lift annual production rates to 1.2 million tonnes per year, which I am pleased to say
was achieved in the last days of June 2020. The safety and security of our staff, contractors, stakeholders and communities is our
number one priority at NQ.
The COVID-19 crisis should provide a few silver linings for NQ, or should I say gold linings. The first being the potential for significant
lead and zinc price increases during 2020, as many base metal mines around the world are either cutting back on their production
or in some cases suspending operations altogether and secondly, the global economic uncertainty has also seen a recent solid rally
in the gold price.
The Bank of America recently forecast that the gold price could reach US$3,000 an ounce over the coming 18 months. NQ now has
excellent exposure to a gold rally through our gold and silver credits in Hellyer’s concentrate production and through future gold
production from the Beaconsfield Gold Mine.
Corporate
NQ has been active on several corporate initiatives which include enhancing the profile and visibility of the Company in the global
capital markets space, diversifying our portfolio of assets, and moves to restructuring our debt that was put in place to start
The Company’s shares are now traded in the USA through the OTC Markets. We now have an American Depository Receipt (“ADR”)
traded in the United States under the ticker NQMIY and the ordinary shares trade under the ticker NQMLF. NQ believes that having
an ADR traded in the United States will provide additional trading liquidity in the world’s largest capital market. To further expand
our global market presence, the Company has also engaged specialists DGWA in Germany to seek a listing on the Frankfurt Stock
Exchange (“Börse Frankfurt).
In late February 2020, we signed a binding staged acquisition agreement totalling £1.05 million to purchase a 100% interest in the
historic high-grade Beaconsfield Gold Mine in Tasmania and after extensive due diligence, NQ took formal ownership of the mine
in late June 2020. Beaconsfield is historically one of the richest gold mines in Tasmania, with past production totalling nearly 2
million ounces of gold from 1887 to 2012 at an average grade of nearly 15 grams per tonne gold, and we plan to bring Beaconsfield
back to to gold production as soon as practicably possible.
In July 2020, we announced that ING Bank N.V. (“ING”), a leading global resources bank, committed to provide the Company with
a USD 41 million banking refinancing facility to assist with the restructuring of the corporate debt put in place during 2017 and
2018. The facility also includes an accordion option to increase the amount up to USD 55 million, subject to further conditions,
including credit committee approval for the further amount.
During 2019, the Company also made a strategic investment in a private Tasmanian mining Company, Tasmania Energy Metals
Pty Ltd (“TEM”), which owns the Barnes Hill Nickel and Cobalt project, which is adjacent to the Beaconsfield Gold Mine. TEM is
targeting the development of a new low cost and long-life nickel/cobalt/gold/silver operation. This project has synergies with Hellyer,
as the envisaged processing path has the potential to increase Hellyer’s gold and silver related revenues. The Company is jointly
advancing this project and advanced technical studies continue.
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NQ MINERALS PLC
NON-EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
Production
Hellyer Gold Mine – Tasmania, Australia
During 2019, we announced several record-breaking month-over-month production performances at Hellyer. In January 2020, we
announced record production for the month of December and for the fourth quarter of 2019 at Hellyer. Production statistics for 2019
quarter- over- quarter were as follows:
Reconciled Production
Lead Concentrate (tonnes)
Zinc Concentrate (tonnes)
Pyrite Concentrate (tonnes)

2019 Q4
8,160
4,904
20,881

2019 Q3
6,656
3,310
10,109

2019 Q2
5,452
4,416
28,375

2019 Q1 2019 Full
4,712
24,980
3,015
15,646
18,488
77,853

We have seen strong improvements in metal recoveries in both our lead and zinc concentrate circuits during the 2019 financial year,
with average lead recoveries in December 2019 exceeding 50% for the first time. Continuous plant improvements and expansion
plans saw plant throughput increase steadily throughout the year and the mine managed to achieve production rates exceeding 1.2
million tonnes per year in June 2020.
Production to date has focused primarily on getting the best out of the lead and zinc concentrate streams, with optimisation work
continuing to show gradual improvements. At the moment, less than 10% of Hellyer’s gold and silver inventory within the tailings
dam is recovered in the current process flow sheet, with the balance being returned back into the tailings dam for reprocessing at a
later date.
With Hellyer’s published JORC compliant Mineral Resource Estimated at 9.25 Mt (which is host to Gold at 2.57 g/t Au for 764,300
oz Au, Silver at 92 g/t Ag for 27,360,300 oz Ag, Lead at 2.99% Pb for 276,600 tonnes and Zinc at 2.57% Zn for 217,400 tonnes),
gold is the main Insitu value metal. A number of opportunities to economically recover gold and silver are being evaluated. Related
studies are assessing process options, estimating capital and operating costs and establishing project execution approaches.
To compliment the Hellyer surface operations, NQ fortuitously managed to secure the rights to the exciting underground resources
at Hellyer in the early part of 2020, and in so doing significantly increased the lease area around Hellyer four- fold.
The acquisition of the underground mineral rights included 1.175 million tonnes of underground JORC Resources grading 8.6%
zinc, 4.9% lead, 1.66 grams per tonne gold and 96 grams per tonne silver. These resources offer significant potential for increasing
Hellyer’s overall resources and add to the 10-year mine life of our current tailing’s operations. We have identified several advanced
exploration targets and will commence an exploration program to expand the known underground resources later in 2020.
Development
Beaconsfield Gold Mine – Tasmania, Australia
In February 2020, NQ announced the acquisition of the Beaconsfield Gold Mine (“Beaconsfield”) in Tasmania for £1.05m. The
acquisition includes the Beaconsfield Mining Lease, infrastructure, permitted tailings dam and a 350,000 tonne per year gold
processing plant. Historic gold production at the Beaconsfield Gold Mine was in two main phases before ceasing operations in
2012 due to low commodity prices:
• 1877-1914 – 1.04M tonnes for 855,000 ounces of gold (avg grade 25.6 g/t gold)
• 1999-2012 – 2.72M tonnes for 920,000 ounces of gold (avg grade 10.5 g/t gold)
In May 2020, we announced a new Mineral Resource Estimate for the lower section of the Beaconsfield Mine, resulting in an
increase in contained gold resources underground to 1.454 million tonnes grading 10.3 grams per tonne gold for 483,000 ounces
of gold.
Beaconsfield Mine
Mineral Resource Statement – 30th April 2020
Ordinary Kriging Grade Estimates
Subdivided by Resource Category Above a Lower Cut-off Grade of 3g/t Au.
Resource
Category
Measured
Indicated
Inferred
Total

Tonnes kt
485
492
477
1,454

Gold Grade
Au g/t
11.4
11.2
8.4
10.3
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Contained Metals Au
koz
177
177
129
483

NQ MINERALS PLC
NON-EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
Importantly, this new Beaconsfield resource is only for the lower section of the mine from the 415 metre level down to the 1,500
vertical metres depth, and the ore body remains open at depth. The deepest hole returning 2.5m at 32.4 g/t gold. No resources have
yet been calculated for the rich upper section of the mine, which was mined from 1877-1914.
NQ plans to re-open Beaconsfield by developing a new modern mine commencing with the development of a 3.6 km decline access
from surface to reconnect into the existing mine workings at the 430 metre level. The Company believes Beaconsfield offers a
genuine opportunity to develop a high-quality gold asset in short order.
Tasmania Energy Metals (“TEM”) Nickel and Cobalt Project – Tasmania, Australia
During 2019, the Company made a strategic investment in a private Tasmanian mining company Tasmania Energy Metals Pty Ltd
(“TEM”). TEM and NQ have been developing plans for an integrated mining and processing facility located in Tasmania only 200
km by road from Hellyer. The it is envisaged that the facility would utilise the main by-product from the treatment of the pyrite/precious
metals concentrate produced from Hellyer, generating sulphuric acid for the further production of nickel and cobalt salts for the sale
in the electric vehicle battery market. In April 2020, an updated Mineral Resource Estimate was issued by Snowden Mining Industry
Consultants Pty Ltd for the Barnes Hill Nickel Project. The new expanded resource has increased substantially to 25Mt @ 0.6%
nickel and 0.05% cobalt using a 0.25% nickel cut-off grade. Recent metallurgical test work on the Barnes Hill laterites now supports
an updated flowsheet that will serve as a new base case in the Pre-Feasibility Study which is underway.
Exploration
Ukalunda Gold Project – Queensland, Australia
The 64.4 km2 Ukalunda tenements, located 300 km South from Townsville have excellent potential to host a gold deposit of size.
There are multiple shows of mineralisation of similar characteristics to major deposits in the regions, such as the historic Wirralie
Gold Mine, with its previously produced 1.1 million ounces of gold. The area is highly prospective for gold, silver and base metals.
The Queensland Environmental Authority has granted a mining lease for NQ’s wholly owned Sunbeam Silver Mine (“Sunbeam”).
The granting of the mining lease allows for a more active exploration effort at the historic Sunbeam Mine and further assessment of
the multiple surface which have been assessed to contain gold, silver, lead, zinc and antimony. The Company is currently working
with its geological consultants to ascertain the true grade and tonnage available in the Sunbeam stockpiles with the view of
monetising their value.
Square Post Gold Project – Queensland, Australia
The 168 km2 Square Post licenses lie close to the main Flinders Highway only 50 km south of the city of Townsville. The area is
considered highly prospective for gold and is considered underexplored. Exploration is expected to start in earnest in 2020.
Safety & Environmental
The Company is determined and committed to making a positive impact in our communities. The Company continues to operate at
the highest standards as it relates to Environmental, Community, Sustainability and Human Resource policies and procedures. We
are committed to maintaining high performance standards and constantly strive to promote a culture of excellence that encourages
our employees to exceed regulatory requirements for health, safety, community development and the environment. We reported no
lost time due to accidents in 2019, which is a testament to all our teams.
Finance
ING Bank N.V. has committed to provide NQ with a refinancing facility. This will allow the Company to discharge most of the current
debt maturing during 2020. The facility better aligns the cash flow from Hellyer with the repayment obligations and term of the
proposed facility. The Company has also been successful in raising equity and debt from issuances through 2019 and 2020.
Hellyer Gold Mine has improved its operational performance during 2019 to show a reduced loss of £4,921,449 (2018:
£7,267,083). Net debt for the period is £9,636,963 (2018: £3,441,246) and a loss per share of £0.46 (2018: £0.66).
A summary of the Group financing position includes:
•
A net debt position as at December 31, 2019 of £56,378,310
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NQ MINERALS PLC
NON-EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
Outlook
The Company’s first year of operations at Hellyer has been transformational for NQ. During the year, we saw improvements on a
month over month basis in production and mine site operating profits. 2020 has continued on with operational success, with Q1
2020 seeing production of lead concentrate totalling to 8,127 tonnes and zinc concentrate production of 4,609 tonnes. In addition,
Hellyer produced 1,081 ounces of gold and 230,441 ounces of silver during Q1 2020. The second quarter in 2020 (Q2 2020)
continued to see further improvements in production, with 8,762 tonnes lead concentrates and 4,241 tonnes of zinc concentrates.
In addition, Q2 2020 saw a total of 1,223 ounces of gold and 229,947 ounces of silver produced as payable precious metal credits
in the lead and zinc concentrate streams.
The Company is implementing programmes to further enhance plant throughput at Hellyer in 2020. We have now successfully
achieved a new record rate of production at 150 tonnes per hour (>1.2 million tonnes per year) through the plant and we continue
to review ways to increase this further should the mine be required to achieve higher throughputs.
Our new Beaconsfield Gold Mine acquisition provides the possibility for significant near-term cash flow from gold production. The
new JORC resource of 1.454 million tonnes grading 10.3 grams per tonne gold for 483,000 ounces is significant resource and could
provide a stable low-cost operation for many years to come.
The Executive and Board have performed exceptionally well during a challenging commissioning year at Hellyer and have taken
advantage of consolidating accretive transactions during the latter part of 2019 and into 2020. We are experiencing unprecedented
times, but my experience has seen that in times of adversity, quality people face the challenges well and rise to the occasion. Our
teams have done well protecting themselves from COVID – 19 and the Company, whilst continuing to turn in solid operational
performances.
I remain optimistic for the Company’s prospects going forward. We have assembled a world class team, and on behalf of the
Company, I would like to personally thank our shareholders and debtholders for their continued support.
On behalf of the board

Mr David Lenigas
Chairman
31 July 2020
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NQ MINERALS PLC
STRATEGIC REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
The Directors present their Strategic Report of NQ Minerals Plc (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (together “the Group”) for
the year ended 31 December 2019.
Review of the business
The trading results for the year ended 31 December 2019, and the Group’s financial position at the end of the year are shown in
the audited financial statements. The profit and loss account for the year shows a loss before tax of £36,629,000, being reflective
of the Hellyer operations going through its commissioning phase.
The loss is a result of finance, selling and administrative costs associated with the residual commissioning losses at Hellyer and
the higher costs on funding junior mining companies. The Company was required to fund additional working capital through a
combination of debt and equity placements. Despite losses through the year, there are numerous accomplishments and
transactions I would like to highlight as we look forward as follows:
•
The Hellyer Gold Mine (“Hellyer”) was commissioned in January 2019, and subsequently set production records in
April/September and November with the positive trends in the second half of 2019.
•
Production rate increases at Hellyer to over 1.2 million tonnes per year in June 2020.
•
An investment in an exciting Nickel/Cobalt project under Tasmania Energy Metals (“TEM”) in Tasmania which could
yield benefits on a successful integration of our processing plant facilities.
•
The acquisition of the Beaconsfield Gold Mine (“Beaconsfield”) located in Tasmania which produced 1.8 million gold
ounces over the last 140 plus years. Our most recent press release dated May 7, 2020 highlighted the high-grade nature
of the deposit as we increased total resources to 483,000 gold ounces at 10.3 grams per tonne. Ongoing technical and
economic assessments have been commissioned to explore the restart of full operations at the Beaconsfield Gold Mine.
•
The acquisition of the high-grade underground base metals resources at the Hellyer Mine. The exploration upside at
Hellyer will be further tested and evaluated for future drill programs to extend the mine life at Hellyer beyond its existing
10-year life.
The Board believes the portfolio of assets now held by NQ Minerals is extremely attractive. We have seen continued improvements
at the operational level at Hellyer. The improvement in operations at Hellyer has provided us with an opportunity explore funding
alternatives. We have secured a US$41m banking refinancing facility with ING Bank N.V. This refinance, will allow us to retire a
portion of the initial project start-up and commissioning debt to reduce our cost of capital and align project cash flows with the tenor
of the facility. This would produce annual savings associated with our selling and interest costs.
Moving forward, in addition to reducing overall finance costs at the corporate level, our continued focus is as follows:
•
Continued improvements at Hellyer with a focus on expanding throughput, improvements in recoveries, supply chain
savings and an ongoing awareness, training and assessment of the Company’s health and safety policies and
procedures. The commitment to the safety of all our stakeholders in our first and foremost consideration.
•
Completion of the technical studies to assess the feasibility of re-opening the Beaconsfield Gold Mine.
•
Exploration at both Hellyer and Beaconsfield in the latter part of 2020.
•
Securing production of a well-diversified suite metals which now includes gold, silver, lead, zinc, nickel, cobalt and pyrite
with direct access to Austral-Asian metals markets.
•
A continued focus on consolidating near term production in politically stable jurisdictions, including our continued
investment in Tasmania.
Principal risk and uncertainties
The Directors continue to assess the risks facing the Company and the Group and they believe these are as follows:
•
Funding risk – the Group is dependent on securing additional funding and there is no certainty that such funds will be
obtained.
•
Exploration and mining risk – The business of exploration for minerals involves a high degree of risk. Few properties
that are explored are ultimately developed into producing mines.
•
Licensing and title risk – Government approvals, licences and permits are, as a practical matter, subject to the
discretion of the applicable governments or government offices.
•
Construction and operational risk – there is significant risk associated with refurbishing and operating the
Beaconsfield and Hellyer projects.
Mitigation
Management has the financial and operational capability to ascertain and monitor its funding needs, including the use of detailed
budgets and medium and long-term forecasts. Management is well connected, experienced and maintains relationships with various
funding entities.
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NQ MINERALS PLC
STRATEGIC REPORT (CONT.)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
Mitigation (cont.)
Expertise in exploration and mining along with previous exploration data helps improve the chances of success. The Group, through
previous managerial knowledge in the industry, seeks to meet all known and future obligations and expectations regarding
government approvals, licences and permits. Experienced management and consultants are engaged to manage the capital
expenditure program and oversee the commencement of operations.
Financial risk and management of capital
The only significant assets of the business are its investment in a wholly owned subsidiary NQ Minerals Pty Limited which has been
acquired by way of a share for share exchange in 2015 and its 100% ownership of Keen Pacific. Various other financial instruments
were issued by the Group during the financial year and a description of how the Group manages its capital and financial risk is
disclosed in Note 33. The Directors consider and review these risks on a strategic and day-to-day basis in order to minimise any
potential exposure.
Section 172 Statement
Our stakeholders
The Board seeks to understand the respective interests of such stakeholder groups so that these may be properly considered in
the Board’s decisions. We do this through various methods, including the following:
1. direct engagement by Board members;
2. receiving reports and updates from members of management who engage with such groups; and
3. coverage in our Board papers of relevant stakeholder communications with regard to proposed courses of action.
Having regard to the likely consequences of any decision in the long term
Within the fast-paced mining sector, there are numerous decisions required which impact the long term sustainability of the
environment and the stakeholders impacted by our activities. The Board remains mindful that its strategic decisions can have long
term implications for the business and its stakeholders, and these implications are carefully assessed.
The most prevalent example of this is in the Board’s decisions with regard to capital allocation. During the year, in approving the
Company’s budget the Board balanced:
• the need for capital expenditure to stabilise, enhance and ensure the mining operations are producing budgeted
quantities of material;
• a desire to remain resilient to risks, attract and retain long term investors through execution of deliverables on production,
costs and capital returns. The Board recognises the challenges associated with fund raising activities in Junior Mining
Companies. The Board balances its capital allocation through lending environments with a view to generating internal
rate of returns in excess of 20% post funding costs.
Having regard to the interests of the Company’s employees
The Board takes active steps to ensure that the suggestions, views and interests of the workforce are captured and considered in
our decision-making. The Management of NQ is quite active and engaged on a daily basis. The Chairman, CEO, CFO all have
extensive mining experience and communicate regularly on the interests, safety and well-being of all of our stakeholders. This
knowledge of the business and active style of engagement means our executive directors maintain an exceptionally acute insight
into the mood, culture and views of the workforce, which they are then able to report on to the wider Board.
Employee engagement
NQ has a number of effective workforce engagement mechanisms in place across the Group (including subsidiary entities):
• Employees are kept informed of performance and strategy through regular presentations and updates from members
of the Board
• The executive directors attend key business meetings throughout the year, including weekly meetings, monthly
presentation of the financial results to the Board
• The Chairman and other non-executive directors attend meetings with employees, including:
regular site visits
the attendance by a non-executive Director and Company Director who is a global leader in project
development and effective plant design. This allows effective engagement and open discussion on the key
business issues, policies and the working environment in different parts of the business, with actions agreed
on issues raised.
• Active dialogue with General Manager on a daily basis;
The Group Director attends certain meetings of the Board to brief on employee-related matters, including workforce demographics,
engagement activities, the results of employee opinion surveys, staff retention rates, diversity, numbers and nature of
whistleblowing, disciplinary and grievance procedures, learning and development activity, pay and reward including gender pay
gap and HR initiatives.
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Section 172 Statement (cont.)
Employee engagement (cont.)
The Board considers that, taken together, these arrangements deliver an effective means of ensuring the Board stays alert to the
views of the workforce. With regard to health, safety and wellbeing, during the year the Board received an update from the Chairman;
including on safety performance, safety risk management and mental health wellbeing initiatives.
Diversity
Putting diversity and inclusion on the agenda helps the business to attract, retain and develop the best talent from every walk of
life. We recruit talent.
Suppliers
Throughout the year the Board was briefed on major contract renegotiations and strategy with regard to key suppliers, notably with
the Group’s providers of freight / offtake services. The Board seeks to balance the benefits of maintaining strong partnering
relationships with key suppliers alongside the need to obtain value for money for our investors and the desired quality and service
levels for our customers. See also below with regard to ethical trading and our focus on suppliers as part of maintaining a reputation
for high standards of business conduct.
Regulators
Our Finance business is regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority. As a responsible authorised company, we seek always to
cooperate and engage constructively with the FCA and meet its standards. The Audit Committee exercises independent oversight
over the regulated Finance business that includes updates on matters under discussion with the FCA.
As a mining company, we face regulations in various areas such as environmental and safety, and are in compliance. Our
employees and technical professionals have extensive mining experience and monitor existing and proposed changes to
regulations which could impact our business.
Key performance indicators
The Directors currently consider the following as key performance indicators:
• 2019 Include net loss £35,927,000. Cash and cash equivalents £1,489,000. Revenue £27,226,000.
• 2018 include net loss £27,861,936. Cash and cash equivalents £513,000.
% Change
Net loss 29% increase. Cash and cash equivalents 190% increase.
The Group is classified by industry standard as a Junior Mining Company. It’s been my experience that most Junior Miners realise
heavy losses in earlier years to accommodate the intensive capital nature of the industry. We are not immune in this area, the prior
year losses reflect a Junior Mining Company raising funds in a competitive capital markets space, with high costs of capital charged
on our debt facilities. With stabilisation of operations at Hellyer and an ongoing restructure of the debt facilities nearing completion,
it is our anticipation the net loss position for 2020 will improve dramatically over 2018 and 2019 reported numbers.
The Group raised sufficient funds during the year to fully fund its operating losses, acquisitions and finance costs, and the Group
has raised additional debt and equity, post year-end, to fund Beaconsfield and TEM, and is now generating cash flows from
mining operations. The Company is in the process of seeking further funding as detailed in note 2.1.
The Directors have established a set of financial and non-financial key performance indicators ("KPI's") which are linked to their
strategic priorities. The KPI's established for 2020 are as follows:
• Achieve internal budgeted production of all two concentrates produced at Hellyer by attaining projected throughput,
grade and recoveries;
• Providing a safe working environment for all our staff and contractors, with a "Zero Harm" initiative;
• Design, develop and operate our facilities to minimize their overall environmental impact and consider their eventual
closure;
• Commitment to providing sustainable benefits to our local community working in partnership with governments, local
business and NGO's to support meaningful initiatives.
Post balance sheet events and future developments
On 29 June 2020, The Group entered into a formal asset purchase agreement for 100% of the historic high grade Beaconsfield
Gold Mine in Tasmania. The A$ 2million purchase price includes processing plant, tailings dams, associated infrastructure, property
rights, mining leases, and related mining permits.
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Post balance sheet events and future developments (cont.)
Subsequent to year end, NQ Minerals PLC and its subsidiary Hellyer Gold Mines Pty Ltd have agreed a US$41m banking
refinancing facility with ING Bank N.V. that was initially raised to start mining and processing at its flagship Hellyer base and precious
metals operation in Tasmania. The facility comprises a 6 year amortising loan with a coupon rate of Libor + 6.5%. The facility
drawdown is now only subject to completion of final documentation and the normal commercial terms previously agreed with ING,
and documentation is well advanced in this respect. It also includes an accordion option to increase the amount up to USD 55
million, subject to further conditions, including credit committee approval for the further amountThis allows NQ and Hellyer to retire
a portion of the initial project startup and commissioning debt and replace this expensive 12% debt with funding that has a
significantly lower interest rate and is more aligned with the project's maturity and projected life. Completion of the facility and
potential draw down of funds is subject to final documentation and a number of conditions precedent customary to a facility of this
nature, including final Credit Committee and Board approvals.
Subsequent to year end, the global pandemic of COVID-19 has had a significant impact on various industries including the market
for base and precious metals. The impact of the pandemic has been assessed with regards to the Group however due to the
uncertainty of the situation, the Group is unable to quantify the impact and will continue to assess the situation as it evolves. The
Hellyer operation has been classified essential by the Tasmanian Government, that operations continue normally and has there
has been no material change. There remains a risk of imposed unexpected interruption of production. Demand for industrial metals
has been affected by the pandemic and prices of all commodities have been disrupted. It cannot be predicted whether the pandemic
will have a permanent effect on prices and due to the uncertainties around the pandemic, the long term effect on the commodity
prices cannot be predicted, however management are continually assessing the situation and the impact on the Group.
Subsequent to year end, an inquiry has been made with the HM Revenue and Customs to change the tax residency of the Group
from the United Kingdom to Australia. The matter is being considered and there is no substantial evidence to conclude on the
changes to the tax residency of the Group as at 31 December 2019.
On 15 January 2020 Hellyer raised £310,903 (gross) at 7 pence per share from a UK based Institutional investor for general
working capital purposes and Hellyer issued 4,441,471 new ordinary shares under this equity issue.
On 10 February 2020, Hellyer has raised £210,100 (gross) at 7 pence per share from a UK based Institutional investor and a private
investor for general working capital purposes and the Company issued 3,001,428 new ordinary shares under this equity issue.
On 6 March 2020 Hellyer raised £176,667 (gross) at 7 pence per share from a UK based Institutional investor and a group of private
investors for general working capital purposes and the Company issued 2,523,815 new ordinary shares under this equity issue.
On 11 May 2020, the Company has raised £150,694 (gross) at 5.75 pence per share from a UK based Institutional investor and a
private investor for general working capital purposes and the Company issued 2,620,766 new ordinary shares under this equity
issue.
On 21 May 2020 the Company raised £189,500 (gross) at 7 and 7.5 pence per share from a UK based Institutional investor and
private investors for general working capital purposes and the Company issued 2,699,999 new ordinary shares under this equity
issue.
On 8 June 2020 the Company raised £118,743 (gross) at 7.5 pence per share from a UK based Institutional investor and private
investors for general working capital purposes and the Company issued 1,583,241 new ordinary shares under this equity issue.
On 7 July 2020 the Company raised £917,486 (gross) at 6.5 pence per share for general working capital purposes and to accelerate
the re-opening of the Beaconsfield Gold Mine and the Company issued 14,115,154 new ordinary shares under this equity issue.
On 30 July 2020 the Company raised £447,500 (gross) at 7 pence per share from a UK based Institutional investor and a private
investor for general working capital purposes and the Company issued 6,392,857 new ordinary shares under this equity issue.
Subsequent to year end, the Group's shares have listed in the USA through the OTC Markets. The Group now has an American
Depository Receipt (“ADR”) traded in the United States. The Group has also engaged specialists DGWA in Germany to seek a
listing on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange (“Börse Frankfurt).
Mineral Resources Tasmania has approved the transfer of the 100% rights to the 46 km(2) Mt Block permit (EL48/2003), which
surrounds the Hellyer Mining Lease. NQ purchased the Mt Block from Bass Metals Ltd.
On behalf of the board

Mr David Lenigas
Director
31 July 2020
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NQ MINERALS PLC
DIRECTORS' REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

The Directors present their report and the audited financial statements for the Group and Company for the year ended 31
December 2019.
Principal activity
The Company was incorporated on 14 April 2015 and was set up as a holding company for the following entities:
•
Keen Pacific Limited, along with its wholly-owned subsidiaries Ivy Resources Pty Ltd and Hellyer Gold Mines Pty Ltd
("the Keen Pacific Limited Group"). The Company acquired the Keen Pacific Limited Group for an estimated fair value
consideration of £20.8 million on 17 May 2017, which includes the issue of 141,671,377 shares in the Company to the
vendors. The acquisition resulted in the Group acquiring the prospective Hellyer Gold Mine in Tasmania, Australia. The
2018 year saw the refurbishment of the Hellyer Polymetallic Project and the commencement of commercial production
in October 2018; and
•
NQ Minerals Pty Limited (“NQ”), along with its wholly owned subsidiary Circle Resources Pty Ltd, a company registered
and operating in Australia. NQ is an Australian-based exploration and mining company, focusing on projects where
past exploration work has established the presence of mineral occurrences. The Company’s management team has
decades of experience in the exploration and production of gold, silver and a variety of base metals.
•
The Company is also expected to close the Beaconsfield Gold Mine acquisition in the first half of 2020. Our most
recent press release dated May 7, 2020 highlighted the high-grade nature of the deposit as we increased total
resources to 483,000 gold ounces at 10.3 grams per tonne. Ongoing technical and economic assessments have been
commissioned to explore the restart of full operations at the Beaconsfield Gold Mine.
Results and dividends
The results for the year are set out on page 21. There were no dividends proposed or paid in the financial year.
Directors
The following Directors during 2019:
Walter Doyle
Brian Stockbridge
(resigned 13 November 2019)
Roger Jackson
Allen Ambrose
Greg Lane
Colin Sutherland
Kevin Puil
David Lenigas
(appointed 1 November 2019)
Statement of Directors' responsibilities
The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Directors' Report and the Group's financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and regulations.
Company law requires the Directors to prepare Group financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the Directors
have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted
for use in the European Union. Under Company law the Directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are
satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and Company and of the profit or loss of the Group
for that period. In preparing these financial statements, the Directors are required to:
•
select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
•
make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
•
state whether they have been prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union; and
•
prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Group will
continue in business.
The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Group's
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Group and Company to enable them to
ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets
of the Group and Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
The Directors are responsible for ensuring the annual report and financial statements are made available on a website. Financial
statements are published on Company’s website in accordance with legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation
and dissemination of financial statements, which may vary from legislation in other jurisdictions. The maintenance and integrity of
the Company’s website is the responsibility of the Directors. The Directors’ responsibility also extends to the ongoing integrity of
the financial statements contained therein.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
Statement of disclosure to auditors
Each person who is a Director at the date of approval of this Annual Report confirms that:
•
So far as the Directors are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditors are unaware;
and
•
each Director has taken all the steps that he ought to have taken as Director in order to make himself aware of any
relevant audit information and to establish that the Company’s auditors are aware of that information.
Auditors
Jeffreys Henry LLP were appointed auditors to the Company and in accordance with section 485 of the Companies Act 2006, a
resolution proposing that they be re-appointed will be put at a General Meeting.
Strategic report
In accordance with section 414C(11) of the Companies Act 2006 the Group chooses to report the review of the business, the
future outlook and the risks and uncertainties faced by the Group in the Strategic Report on page 5.

On behalf of the board

Mr David Lenigas
Director
31 July 2020
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Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of NQ Minerals Plc (the ‘Parent Company’) and its
subsidiaries (the ‘Group’) for the year ended 31 December 2019 which comprise the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated and Parent Company statement of
financial position, the consolidated and Parent Company statement of changes in equity, the consolidated
statement of cash flows and the notes to the financial statements, including significant accounting policies.
The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the Group financial statements
is applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European
Union. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the Parent Company
financial statements is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial
Reporting Standard 101 “Reduced Disclosure Framework” (United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice).
In our opinion:
• the Group and Parent Company financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the
Group’s and of the Parent Company’s affairs as at 31 December 2019 and of the Group’s loss for
the year then ended;
• the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted
by the European Union;
• the Parent Company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and
• the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies
Act 2006.
Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and
applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the
company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial
statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard as applied to listed entities, and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Material uncertainty related to going concern
We draw attention to note 6.1 in the financial statements, which indicates that the Group has incurred a net
loss after tax of £35.9 million and had a net current liability position of £27.7 million. We also draw your
attention to note 6.1 in the financial statements which indicate that financial liabilities of £28.5 million will be
due for repayment during the year ended 31 December 2020. Furthermore, interest and other charges to
date have increased the balance due for repayment.
Subsequent to the year end, the Group has raised £2.5 million to support its working capital requirements, to
continue with its exploration programmes and to meet its recurring minimum expenditure. As stated in note
6.1, the Group has agreed debt refinancing facility with ING Bank N.V. of US$41 million. However, the
drawdowns have not commenced.
The Group will require further refinancing when the long-term loans currently shown on the consolidated
statement of financial position become repayable in the near future. There can be no assurance that the
funding required by the Group will be made available to it when needed.
Whilst there is a global impact due to the COVID-19 outbreak, the Group has been able to continue its
operations due to extensive support and lockdown procedures initiated by the Tasmanian government. It
remains difficult to assess reliably whether there will be any material disruption in the future which could
adversely impact the Group’s forecast.
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See the going concern assumption key matter on pages 12 to 13 where we describe how we have evaluated
management’s assessment and the key observations arising with respect to that evaluation.
Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.
Our audit approach
Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our
audit of the financial statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of
material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) we identified, including those which had the greatest
effect on: the overall audit strategy, the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the
engagement team. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as
a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
This is not a complete list of all risks identified by our audit.
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Going concern assumption
Deferred evaluation and exploration expenditure
Valuation of financing arrangements
Valuation of embedded derivatives
Valuation of tailings (inventory)
Carrying value of investments
Provision for management, remediation and rehabilitation of environmental aspects arising from
mining operations

These are explained in more detail below.
Key audit matter
Going concern assumption

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

The Group is dependent upon its ability to generate
sufficient cash flows to meet its working capital
requirements and operational costs to continue
trading.

We have performed the following audit procedures:

The Directors have considered the cash
requirements of the business for 12 months from the
date of approval of the financial statements. As part
of this process, they have taken into account existing
liabilities, along with detailed operating cashflow
requirements and availability of funding from various
sources. The projections prepared include ongoing
running costs of the Group and committed
expenditure at the date of approving the financial
statements.
The Directors have identified a variety of potential
sources of funds including issue of additional debt
and shareholder loans. In addition, the Directors have
identified additional cost reductions which may be
implemented if necessary.

•

Evaluated the suitability of management’s model
for the forecast.

The forecast includes a number of assumptions
related to future cash flows and associated risks. Our
audit work has focused on evaluating and challenging
the reasonableness of these assumptions and their
impact on the forecast period and ensuring that all
key matters are correctly disclosed in the going
concern note.
Specifically, we obtained, challenged and assessed
management’s going concern forecast and
performed procedures including:
• Verifying the consistency of key inputs and fund
raisers relating to future costs to other financial
and operational information obtained during the
audit;
• Verified the reasons for increase in production
levels and throughput levels;
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Key assumptions that impact the conclusions are the
mineral production levels, the pricing available for
minerals and ability to fundraise with lower interest
rates to reduce financing expenditure over the life of
the project.

•

These are therefore inherent risks that the forecasts
may overstate future revenue and understate future
costs, and that the Group will not be able to operate
within its cash resources and continue to operate as
a going concern.

•

•
•

•
•
•

Corroborated support for expected future capital
expenditure for the increase in production;
Corroborated with management relating to future
cash inflows;
We reviewed the latest management accounts to
gauge the financial position.;
We performed sensitivity analysis on the cash
flow forecasts prepared by the directors;
We performed a mechanical check on the cash
flow forecast model prepared by the directors;
Considered the Group’s historic ability to raise
funds; and
Reviewed the financing options available to the
Group to evaluate the ability of the Group to pay
their debts as they become due.

We have enquired with management as to the impact
of COVID-19 and the steps being taken to limit the
impact of the pandemic on the business. We have
reviewed forecasts and latest bank balances to
ensure the Group can cover its overheads. The
forecasts have been stress tested by management
and the assumptions have been challenged.
We note that post year end the Group have
successfully raised additional funding of £2.5 million
(before expenses) up to June 2020 by issue of new
shares.
The Group has also successfully agreed a facility of
US$41 million with ING Bank N.V. at the date of
approval of the financial statements.
Due to the risks outlined above, a material uncertainty
relating to going concern is highlighted in the auditor’s
report.
Carrying value of deferred evaluation and
exploration expenditure
Intangible assets comprise exploration assets, being
accumulated licence acquisition costs and
subsequent capitalised expenditure on those
concessions. The Group had intangibles of £1,238k
at the year-end (2018: £1,218k).
Included within intangibles assets were additions
relating to capitalised exploration costs.
The Directors have a duty to confirm that all
intangibles, are correctly recognised.

We have performed the following audit procedures:
•
•
•
•
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Confirmed the existence and ownership of
licenses to confirm that the Group holds a valid
right to explore the tenements;
Vouched additions of exploration costs and
ensured compliance with IFRS 6;
Reviewed expert reports to determine the
technical feasibility and future viability of the
areas being explored;
Reviewed disclosures made in the financial
statements;
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As these are part of the Group’s primary assets, the
continued existence and ownership of these assets is
a key audit matter. Additionally, management is
required, by IFRS 6, to consider whether there are
any impairment indicators which may suggest that the
exploration costs will not be recoverable. Such
indicators include the expiry or potential non-renewal
of licences, absence of planned or budgeted
expenditure
on
further
exploration,
the
discontinuance of exploration activities in a specific
area consequent on the non-discovery of
commercially viable minerals, or data which indicates
that the carrying amount of the asset is unlikely to be
recovered in full from development or sale of the
asset.

•

•

Reviewed the directors’ consideration of
impairment indicators and comparing this to
other information available to us, including RNS
announcements,
past
expenditure,
management’s plans and budgets;
Reviewed management plans to meet the future
minimum expenditure obligations for all
tenements held at the year end

Based on the audit work performed we are satisfied
that the management have appropriately considered
the carrying value in accordance with accounting
standards and no further impairment is required.

The risk is that some sites may not have commercial
viability and the expenditure incurred to date may be
impaired.
Valuation of financing arrangements
The Group has financing arrangements with various
lenders. These arrangements are material in relation
to the assets of the Group.
Interest, other financing charges and other
adjustments arising from the recognition of financial
liabilities has a material impact on the net asset
position and the results for the year.
There is a risk that certain financing arrangements
may not be accurately recorded as liabilities on the
balance sheet.

We have performed the following audit procedures:
•

•
•

•
•
•

Reperformed calculations of effective interest
charge for all loans held during the year and
reviewed key assumptions used in arriving at the
effective interest rate use by management;
Reviewed arithmetic accuracy of managements
calculations and agree terms to the facility letter
or contracts;
Confirmed actual interest paid with the bank
statements and reviewed journals entered for the
recognition of actual and amortised interest
charge in the profit and loss account for the year;
Reviewed loan agreements to ensure no
covenants had been breached during the year;
Reviewed intercreditor loan facility variation deeds
to ensure all loans have been recorded as
liabilities; and
Discussed any known or suspected breaches with
management

Based on the audit work performed, we can confirm
there are no material errors and that all loans have
been accurately and appropriately recorded and
classified in the financial statements, and the
associated charges have been accurately recorded in
the profit and loss account.
Valuation of embedded derivatives
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The group has an agreement to credit RIVI
Opportunity Fund (‘Rivi’) and RC Advisors LLC
(‘RCA’), in connection with the gold and silver
streaming. The liability is calculated based on the net
present value of expected future cashflows from gold
and silver sales for the life of the current project. We
conclude that the liability to apply credit to these
lenders, based on the net present value of future
cashflows, represents and embedded derivative in
the financing arrangement.

We have performed the following audit procedures:

Funding royalties payable to Eldorado Mining Limited
are determined based on the royalty percentage
payable multiplied by the expected net profits over
the life of the mine.

•

The calculation of these liability requires significant
judgements and assumptions to be made in relation
to the forecasted production, sales and prices of
various commodities. Furthermore, the group is
required to calculate its weighted average cost of
capital (WACC), which requires various judgements
and estimations to be made and can be subjective in
nature.

•

If the estimations were to differ, the change could
have a material impact on the valuation of the
liabilities recognised, the changes in fair values
recognised and the impact the decision of the users
of the financial statements.

•
•

•

•

•
•
•
•

Reviewed underlying contracts to understand the
nature of the embedded derivative;
Agreed key terms in the contract with Rivi, RCA
and Eldorado to the terms used by management
in calculating the streaming and royalty
percentage;
Reviewed forecasted metal production levels and
compare to previous expert reports, current year
production levels and prior year financial model;
Corroborated changes in productions levels by
comparing actual to forecast data for 2019;
Reviewed arithmetic accuracy of managements
calculations and agree metals pricing to an
independent source;
Reviewed WACC calculations performed by
management and challenge managements
assumption for arriving at the WACC;
Agreed terms used in calculation of future
cashflows to Rivi and RCA contracts;
Reviewed and assessed the appropriateness of
discount rates used across all calculations;
Reviewed EBITDA calculations for royalties
payable and ensured only allowable costs were
deducted; and
Reviewed journals for recognition of changes in
the fair value of liabilities during the year.

Based on the audit work performed, we are satisfied
that the embedded derivatives have been
appropriately valued, the assumptions used have a
reasonable basis and changes in fair values have
been accurately recognised.

Valuation of tailings (inventory)
Valuation of tailings is a subjective area which
requires specialists in the field of Geology to
undertake tests and make estimates regarding the
mineral resources or ore reserves in a particular area.
The interpretations and conclusions reached are
based on scientific understanding and the best
evidence available. It is the nature of all scientific
conclusions that they are founded on an assessment
of probabilities and, however high these probabilities
might be, they make no claim for absolute certainty.

We have performed the following audit procedures:

Hence, there is a high level of uncertainty
surrounding the valuation of tailings. Changes to site
specific mining, geological conditions and variations
in quality of ores or minerals could have a significant
impact on the value of the inventory.

•

•
•
•

•
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Reviewed purchase price allocation report and
journals which specify the valuation of the tailing
acquired on acquisition of Keen Pacific Limited;
Review depreciation and impairment applied
during 2018 and 2019 to the value of tailings in
line with the unit of production method;
Recalculated depreciation charge for 2019 and
corroborated production levels to other sources
of available information;
Reviewed journals recognised for depreciation,
impairment and exchange losses;
Discussed outcome of our calculations with
management; and
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•

Review expert report on estimated value of
minerals contained in the tailings and ensure the
value was higher than the value of inventory
recognised in the financial statements.

Based on the audit work performed, we are satisfied
that the value of tailings has been recorded at the
lower of cost and net realisable value in line with IAS
2.
Carrying value of investments in and amounts
due from subsidiaries (Parent Company only)
We identified a risk that the investment of the Parent We have performed the following audit procedures:
Company in its subsidiaries and amounts receivable,
may be impaired.
• Reviewed management’s assessment of future
operating cashflows and indicators of
impairment;
Management’s assessment of the recoverable
amount of investments in subsidiaries requires • Assessed the methodology used by management
estimation and judgement around assumptions used,
to estimate the future profitability and recoverable
including the future cash flows to be generated from
value of the investment, in conjunction with any
intra-group balances, to ensure that the method
continuing operations. Changes to assumptions used
used is appropriate;
could lead to material changes in the estimated value
of the subsidiaries, and consequently the investment
• Assessed the reasonableness of the key
in them and amounts recoverable from them.
assumptions used in management’s estimates of
recoverable value, in line with the economic and
As forecast are inherently uncertain, and the
industry statistics relevant to the business;
investment in and balances due from subsidiaries are
significant, the carrying value of subsidiaries is
• Challenged cash inflows and outflows from
considered a key audit matter.
revenue generating activities and the key
assumptions applied in arriving at these,
including the mineral production levels, future
expenditure levels, expected movements in
pricing of minerals;
•

Assessed the appropriateness and applicability
of discount rate applied to the current business
performance;

•

Confirmed that any adverse change in key
assumptions would not materially impact the
valuation; and

Based on the audit work performed we are satisfied
that the management assumption that investments in
and amounts due from subsidiaries are not impaired
and fully recoverable.
Provision for management, remediation and
rehabilitation of environmental aspects arising
from mining operations

We have performed the following audit procedures:
•
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Obtained an understanding of relevant controls
over the environmental restoration and
decommissioning provisioning process including
management review controls;
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Obligations to decommission or remove an asset are
created at the time the asset is put in place and are
required to be made in accordance with IAS 37. In
most cases, the data available at the date of making
the provision is not sufficient to determine an exact
estimate of the financial provision required to
decommission the mines and remove all assets.

•

The ultimate cost of decommissioning and restoration
is uncertain on 31 December 2019, and management
have used their judgment and experience, and the
help of experts, to determine the potential scope of
rehabilitation work required and have made a
provision based on the net present value of future
costs. At 31 December 2019, the provision for mine
rehabilitation was £4 million. Adjustments will have to
be made to provisions when the range of possible
outcomes become sufficiently narrow to permit a
more reliable estimation.

•

The risk of an incorrect provision is increased
because the calculation of the net present value of
the future cashflow requires additional assumptions
to be made such as use of discount factors and other
variables.

•

•
•
•

Assessed management’s process for the review
of closure provisions, and understood and
challenged the key changes to the provisions
from prior year;
Reviewed communications with the expert wo
prepared the mining rehabilitation plan, including
calculation of net present value of future costs for
decommissioning and remediation works;
Assessed the key cost assumptions, the
completeness of such assessments and
assessed the discount rates applied by
management to calculate the net present value;
Considered implications of any recent changes in
legislation and regulatory requirements for
rehabilitation in Tasmania;
Checked the mathematical accuracy of
management’s calculation and investigated any
differences in management’s calculations; and
Challenged management on the appropriateness
of assumptions used and adjustments made,
including consideration of management bias.

Based on the audit work performed, we are satisfied
that the provision made by management for
remediation and rehabilitation of environmental
aspects arising from mining operations is appropriate.

Our application of materiality
The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. We set certain quantitative
thresholds for materiality. These, together with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope
of our audit and the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures on the individual financial statement
line items and disclosures and in evaluating the effect of misstatements, both individually and in aggregate
on the financial statements as a whole.
Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the Group financial statements as a
whole as follows:
Overall materiality
How we determined it
Rationale for
benchmark applied

Group financial statements
£602,000 (2018: £489,000).
Based on an average of 2% of net loss and 1% of
gross assets.
We believe that net results and gross assets are the
primary measure used by the shareholders in
assessing the performance of the group. These are
also generally accepted auditing benchmarks.

We agreed with the Directors that we would report to them misstatements identified during our audit above
£30,100 (2018: £Nil) as well as misstatements below those amounts that, in our view, warranted reporting
for qualitative reasons.
Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the Parent Company financial
statements as a whole as follows:
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Overall materiality
How we determined it
Rationale for
benchmark applied

Parent Company financial statements
£409,000 (2018: £374,000).
Based on an average of 1% of gross assets.
We believe that gross assets are the primary
measure used by the shareholders in assessing
the performance of the group. They are also
generally accepted auditing benchmarks.

We agreed with the Directors that we would report to them misstatements identified during our audit above
£20,450 (2018: £Nil) as well as misstatements below those amounts that, in our view, warranted reporting
for qualitative reasons.
An overview of the scope of our audit
As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement
in the Group and Parent Company financial statements. In particular, we looked at where the Directors
made subjective judgements, for example in respect of significant accounting estimates that involved
making assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain. As in all of our audits we
also addressed the risk of management override of internal controls, including evaluating whether there
was evidence of bias by the directors that represented a risk of material misstatement due to fraud.
How we tailored the audit scope
We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed enough work to be able to give an opinion
on the Group and Parent Company financial statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the
Group, the accounting processes and controls, and the industry in which they operate.
The Group financial statements are a consolidation of 3 reporting units, comprising the Group’s operating
businesses. The Group comprises the parent undertaking, incorporated in the United Kingdom, its principal
operating subsidiaries, Hellyer Gold Mines Pty Limited (‘Hellyer’) and Circle Resources Pty Limited
(‘Circle’), five non-trading companies, of which 3 are intermediate holding companies. Hellyer and Circle
and are both registered in Australia, along with NQ Minerals Pty Limited, Ivy Resources Pty Ltd and Pieman
Resources Pty Limited, whilst the NQ Minerals Pte is registered in Singapore and Keen Pacific Limited is
registered in BVI.
A full scope audit was performed for all entities in the Group based on individually assessed materiality
levels. This resulted in 100% coverage of consolidated expenditures and 100% of the Group’s gross and
net assets.
We performed audits of the complete financial information of the Group reporting units, which were
individually financially significant and accounted for 100% of the Group’s absolute loss before tax (i.e. the
sum of the numerical values without regard to whether they were profits or losses for the relevant reporting
units). We also performed specified audit procedures over deferred exploration and evaluation expenditure,
investments, embedded derivatives, as well as certain account balances and transaction classes that we
regarded as material to the Group within the 3 reporting units.
The Group engagement team performed all audit procedures.
Other information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our
opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise
explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
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In connection with our audit of the Group financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact.
We have nothing to report in this regard.
Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:
• the information given in the Strategic report and the Directors’ report for the financial year for which
the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and
• the Strategic report and the Directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable
legal requirements.
Matters on which we are required to report by exception
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and the Parent Company and their
environment obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the
Strategic report or the Directors’ report.
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006
requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:
•
•
•
•

adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Parent Company, or returns adequate for
our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or
the Parent Company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and
returns; or
certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or
we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Responsibilities of directors
As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement set out on page 23, the directors are
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and
fair view, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s and parent
company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or
the parent company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF NQ MINERALS PLC
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the Group financial statements is located on the
Financial Reporting Council’s website at: http://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description
forms part of our auditor’s report.

Use of this report
This report is made solely to the Parent Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of
Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the
Parent Company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for
no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to
anyone other than the Parent Company and the Parent Company’s members as a body, for our audit work,
for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Sanjay Parmar
Senior Statutory Auditor
For and on behalf of
Jeffreys Henry LLP (Statutory Auditors)
Finsgate
5-7 Cranwood Street
London EC1V 9EE
31 July 2020
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
Year Ended
31 December 2019
Note
£’000s
9

Revenue from contracts with customers
Cost of sales
Gross profit / (loss)
Other income
Selling and distribution expenses
Administrative expenses
Operating loss

10

Year Ended
31 December 2018
£’000s*

27,226
(19,821)
7,405

3,247
(5,214)
(1,967)

22
(4,720)
(18,434)
(15,727)

135
(381)
(13,210)
(15,423)

Finance costs
Finance income
Loss on ordinary activities before taxation

11
14

(20,921)
19
(36,629)

(12,223)
31
(27,615)

Taxation
Loss for the year

15

689
(35,940)

153
(27,462)

Other comprehensive income
Foreign exchange gain / (losses)

13

Total comprehensive loss for the year attributable to the owners of
the Parent

Loss per share (pence) (basic and diluted)

16

* The prior year figures have been restated, refer to note 23 and note 7
The accompanying notes on pages 27 to 60 form part of these financial statements.
All comprehensive income is attributable to continuing operations.
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(35,927)

(10.94p)

(400)
(27,862)

(8.90p)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

Note

Assets
Non-current assets
Exploration and evaluation assets
Inventory
Property, plant and equipment
Financial assets
Deferred tax assets
Total non-current assets
Current assets
Inventory
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets
Total assets
Equity and liabilities
Equity attributable to owners of the Parent
Ordinary shares
Share premium
Unissued capital reserve

As At
31 December 2019
£’000s

17
19

1,238
15,889

1,218
19,344

20
23.1
15.2

19,925
1,326
880
39,258

19,492
1,068
986
42,108

19

4,435

3,467

21
22

3,387
1,489
9,311
48,569

1,736
513
5,716
47,824

27

Share option reserve
Other reserve

330

322

15,781
3,879

15,487
3,879

7,124
267
(6,996)

7,124
105
(6,983)

(399)
7,171
(83,535)
(56,378)

(412)
7,171
(47,595)
(20,902)

23.2

57,950

37,942

24
15.2

4,043
5,971
67,964

4,100
6,955
48,997

25

12,332

6,338

23.2
26

22,696
1,955
36,983

11,934
1,457
19,729

104,947

68,726

48,569

47,824

28

Group reorganisation reserve
Translation reserve
Merger relief reserve
Accumulated losses
Total equity attributable to owners of the Parent
Non-current liabilities
Financial liabilities*
Provision for rehabilitation
Deferred tax liabilities
Total non-current liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Financial liabilities
Convertible notes

As At
31 December 2018
£’000s*

Total current liabilities
Total liabilities
Total equity and liabilities
The accompanying notes on pages 27 to 60 form part of these financial statements.
* The prior year figures have been restated, refer to note 23 and note 7
Approved by the Board and authorised for issue on 31/07/2020.

Colin Sutherland

Colin Sutherland
Director
Company Registration No. 09540926
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

Note

Assets
Non-current assets
Investments
Financial assets
Total non-current assets
Current assets
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets
Total assets
Equity and liabilities
Equity attributable to owners of the Parent
Ordinary shares
Share premium
Unissued capital reserve
Share option reserve
Other reserve
Merger relief reserve
Accumulated losses
Total equity attributable to owners of the Parent

As At
31 December 2019
£’000s

18
23

28,089
300
28,389

28,088
28,088

21
22

12,236
226
12,462
40,851

6,122
207
6,329
34,417

27

330
15,781
3,879
7,124
267
7,171
(64,325)
(29,773)

322
15,487
3,879
7,124
105
7,171
(34,745)
(657)

23.2

49,020
49,020

29,367
29,367

25
23.2
26

6,451
13,198
1,955
21,604
70,624

3,683
567
1,457
5,707
35,074

40,851

34,417

28

Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Financial liabilities
Total non-current liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Financial liabilities
Convertible notes
Total current liabilities
Total liabilities

As At
31 December 2018
£’000s

Total equity and liabilities

As permitted by Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 the profit and loss account of the Company is not presented as part of
these financial statements. The Company’s loss for the financial year was £29,579,000 (2019: £17,938,000).
The accompanying notes on pages 27 to 60 form part of these financial statements.
Approved by the Board and authorised for issue on 31/07/2020.

Colin Sutherland

Colin Sutherland
Director
Company Registration No. 09540926
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
Group
Unissued
Merger reorgani- Transl- AccumShare
Share
capital Option Other
relief
sation
ation
ulated
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve
deficit
£’000s
£’000s
£’000s £’000s £’000s £’000s
£’000s £’000s
£’000s
As at 31 December 2017
Shares issued or issuable in
the year
Value of conversion rights
Loss for the year
Restatement *
Translation of foreign
operations
As at 31 December 2018
Shares issued or issuable in
the year
Value of conversion rights
Share issue costs
Loss for the year
Translation of foreign
operations
As at 31 December 2019

283

11,565

5,512

5,391

201

39
-

3,922
-

(1,633)
-

1,733
-

(208)
112

322

15,487

3,879

7,124

8
-

294
-

330

15,781

-

-

3,879

7,124

7,171

-

-

105

7,171
-

162

267

7,171

(6,983)
(6,983)
(13)
(6,996)

(12)
(400)
(412)
13
(399)

Total
equity
£’000s

(20,133)

2,995

(25,448)
(2,014)

2,120
1,845
(25,448)
(2,014)

(47,595)

(400)
(20,902)

302
162
(35,940) (35,940)
(83,535) (56,378)

Share capital is the amount subscribed for shares at nominal value and share premium is the excess subscribed above nominal
value. Included within share premium are share issue costs which relate to commissions and other directly attributable costs.
Unissued capital reserve includes the contingent share consideration associated with the acquisition of Keen Pacific Limited and its
controlled entities on 18 May 2017. Refer to Note 18 for further details.
Other reserve includes the value of conversion rights associated with convertible notes amounting to £267,000 (2018: £105,000).
Refer to Note 26 for further details.
Group reorganisation and merger relief reserves arise from the 100% acquisition of NQ Minerals Pty Limited (“NQ”) on 25 May
2015 whereby the excess of the fair value of the issued ordinary share capital over the nominal value of these shares was
transferred to these reserves in accordance with section 612 of the Companies Act 2006.
Translation reserve arises from the translation of transactions and balances relating to the Australian and British Virgin Island
subsidiaries into pounds sterling.
Accumulated deficit represents the cumulative losses of the Group attributable to equity shareholders.
Option reserve includes the value of the share based payments amounting to £nil (2018: £1,733,704) in addition to £nil (2018: £nil)
which has been capitalised as transaction costs with financiers. Refer to Note 28 for further details.
* The prior year figures have been restated, refer to note 23 and note 7
The accompanying notes on pages 27 to 60 form part of these financial statements.
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

Unissued
Merger Accumcapital
relief
ulated
Share
Share
Option
Other
reserve
deficit
capital premium reserve reserve
reserve
£’000s
£’000s
£’000s
£’000s
£’000s
£’000s
£’000s
As at 31 December 2017
Shares issued or issuable in the year
Value of conversion rights
Loss for the year
As at 31 December 2018
Shares issued or issuable in the year
Value of conversion rights
Loss for the year
As at 31 December 2019

283
39
322
8
330

11,565
3,922
15,487
294
15,781

5,512
(1,633)
3,879
3,879

5,391
1,733
7,124
7,124

201
(208)
112
105
162
267

7,171
7,171
7,171

(16,806)
(17,939)
(34,745)
(29,580)
(64,325)

Total
equity
£’000s
13,317
2,120
1,845
(17,939)
(657)
302
162
(29,580)
(29,773)

Share capital is the amount subscribed for shares at nominal value and share premium is the excess subscribed above nominal
value. Included within share premium are share issue costs which relate to commissions and other directly attributable costs.
Unissued capital reserve includes the contingent share consideration associated with the acquisition of Keen Pacific Limited and
its controlled entities on 18 May 2017. Refer to Note 18 for further details.
Other reserve includes the value of conversion rights associated with convertible notes amounting to £267,000 (2018: £105,000).
Refer to Note 26 for further details.
Merger relief reserve arises from the 100% acquisition of NQ Minerals Pty Limited (“NQ”) on 25 May 2015 whereby the excess of
the fair value of the issued ordinary share capital issued over the nominal value of these shares was transferred to this reserve in
accordance with section 612 of the Companies Act 2006.
Accumulated deficit represents the cumulative losses of the Company attributable to equity shareholders.
Option reserve includes the value of the share based payments amounting to £nil (2018: £1,733,704) in addition to £nil (2018: £nil)
which has been capitalised as transaction costs with financiers. Refer to Note 28 for further details.
The accompanying notes on pages 27 to 60 form part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

Note

Year Ended
31 December
2019
£’000s

Year Ended
31 December
2018
£’000s

(14,703)

(13,484)

(47)
(1,560)
(1,607)

(271)
(11,939)
(12,210)

29

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Payment for exploration expenditure
Payment for property, plant and equipment
Net cash flows from investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Interest income
Increase in borrowings:
New borrowings
Repayment of borrowings
Transaction costs
Interest paid
Proceeds on issue of shares:
New shares
Net cash flows from financing activities

-

28

29.1

Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents
Net foreign exchange differences
Cash and cash equivalents brought forward
Cash and cash equivalents carried forward

22

28,653
(4,304)
(7,050)

35,130
(983)
(5,553)
(4,950)

302
17,601

413
24,085

1,291
(315)
513
1,489

(1,609)
(1,188)
3,310
513

Non-cash transactions
The Company issued nil (2018: 8,000,000) Share Options with a value of £nil (2018: £578,898) to no (2018: two) directors
during the 2019 financial year and nil (2018: 8,000,000) Share Options with a value of £nil (2018: 729,452) to no (2018: two)
key management personnel. Further details on the Share Options are outlined in Note 27.
The accompanying notes on pages 27 to 60 form part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT.)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
1

Corporate and Group Information
The consolidated financial statements of NQ Minerals Plc (the Company) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the Group) for the year ended
31 December 2019 were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the directors on
07/2020.
NQ Minerals Plc (“Company”) is a public limited company incorporated and domiciled in England and Wales with company number 09540926
and quoted on the AQUIS Exchange. Details of the registered office, the officers and advisers to the Company are presented on the Company
information page.
The Group is principally engaged in the exploration for, development and production of, base and precious metals. Information of the
Group's parent and other related party relationships are presented in Note 18.

2

Basis of preparation
This section provides additional information about the overall basis of preparation that the directors consider to be useful and relevant to
understanding these financial statements.

2.1

Overview
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared using the historical cost convention, on a going concern basis and in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and IFRS Interpretations Committee ("IFRIC") Interpretations as adopted
by the European Union and the Companies Act 2006 applicable to companies reporting under IFRS, using accounting policies which are set
out below and which have been consistently applied to all years presented, unless otherwise stated.
The financial statements of the parent company have been prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 101 “Reduced
Disclosure Framework” (‘FRS 101’) and the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. The Company will continue to prepare its financial
statements in accordance with FRS 101 on an ongoing basis until such time as it notifies shareholders of any change to its chosen accounting
framework.
The Group and Company financial statements have been prepared using the historical cost convention except where other measurement
bases are required to be applied and in accordance with IFRS under FRS 101. In accordance with FRS 101, the Company has taken advantage
of the following exemptions:
IAS 7, ‘Statement of Cash Flows’;
•
•
Requirements of IAS 24, ‘Related Party Disclosures’ to disclose related party transactions entered into between two or more
members of a group;
IAS 36, ‘The impairment review';
•
•
FRS 101, 'Reduced disclosure framework'.

2.2

Preparation of financial statements
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS and FRS 101 requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also
requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher
degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are disclosed in Note
3.

2.3

Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of NQ Minerals Plc and its subsidiaries as at 31 December 2019.
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control exists when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee.
Subsidiaries
The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a
subsidiary is the fair value of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued
by the Group. The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at
their fair values at the acquisition date. The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-by- acquisition
basis, either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred
If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree is re-measured to fair value at the acquisition date; any gains or losses arising from such re-measurement are recognised in profit
or loss.
Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair
value of the contingent consideration that is deemed to be an asset or liability is recognised in accordance with IFRS 9 either in profit or loss
or as a change to other comprehensive income. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not re-measured, and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity.
Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are
also eliminated. When necessary amounts reported by subsidiaries have been adjusted to conform with the Group’s accounting policies.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT.)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
2

Basis of preparation (cont.)

2.3

Consolidation (cont.)
Changes in ownership interest in subsidiaries without change of control
Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions – that is, as transactions
with the owners in their capacity as owners. The difference between fair value of any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of
the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-controlling interests are also
recorded in equity.
Disposal in subsidiaries
When the Group ceases to have control any retained interest in the entity is re-measured to its fair value at the date when control is lost, with
the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently
accounting for the retained interest as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This
may mean that amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.
Group reorganisation accounting
The Company acquired its 100% interest in NQ Minerals Pty Limited (“NQ Pty”) in the 2015 financial year on 25 May 2015 by way of a share
for share exchange. This was a business combination involving entities under common control and the consolidated financial statements are
issued in the name of the Group but they are a continuance of those of NQ Pty. Therefore, the assets and liabilities of NQ Pty have been
recognised and measured in these consolidated financial statements at their pre-combination carrying values. The retained earnings and other
equity balances recognised in these consolidated financial statements are the retained earnings and other equity balances of the Company
and NQ Pty. The equity structure appearing in these consolidated financial statements (the number and the type of equity instruments issued)
reflect the equity structure of the Company including equity instruments issued by the Company to affect the consolidation. The difference
between consideration given and net assets of NQ Pty at the date of acquisition is included in a group reorganisation reserve.

2.4

Foreign currencies
Group companies
The results and financial position of all group entities (none of which has the currency of a hyper-inflationary economy) that have a
functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:
(a)
assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of that statement
of financial position;
(b)
income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average exchange rates (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the rate on the dates of the transactions); and
(c)
all resulting exchange differences are recognised as a separate component of equity.
On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign operations, and of borrowings, are taken
to shareholders’ equity. When a foreign operation is partially disposed of or sold, exchange differences that were recorded in equity are
recognised in the income statement as part of the gain or loss on sale.
Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and
translated at the closing rate.
On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into Pounds Sterling (£) at the rate of exchange prevailing at
the reporting date and their statements of profit or loss are translated at exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. The
exchange differences arising on translation for consolidation are recognised in OCI. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of OCI
relating to that particular foreign operation is reclassified in profit or loss.
Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the individual financial statements of group companies are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment
in which each entity operates (the functional currency), which are mainly in Pounds Sterling (£) and Australian Dollars (A$). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Pounds Sterling (£), which is the Group’s presentation currency.
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded by each entity in the Group at their respective functional currency spot rates at the
date the transaction first qualifies for recognition.
Transactions and balances
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency spot rates of exchange at the
reporting date. All differences are taken to the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. Non-monetary items that are
measured at historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transaction. Non- monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined.

3

Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions
The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, the accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent
liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements. Estimates and assumptions are continually evaluated and are based on
management’s experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying
amount of assets or liabilities affected in future periods.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT.)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
3

Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions (cont.)
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are also described in the
individual notes of the related financial statement line items below. The Group based its assumptions and estimates on parameters available
when the Group and Company financial statements were prepared. Existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments,
however, may change due to market changes or circumstances arising that are beyond the control of the Group. Such changes are reflected
in the assumptions when they occur.
The Group applies judgement in how it applies its accounting policies, which do not involve estimation, but could materially affect the numbers
disclosed in these financial statements. The key judgements, without estimation, that have been applied in these financial statements are as
follows:

3.1

Judgements
Recoverability of related party receivables
•
Estimate on measurement of tailing consumption
•
Functional currency
•
Deferred tax assets
•
Exploration and evaluation
•
Production start date
•

Refer to note 3.1 and 23 and 30
Refer to note 3.1
Refer to note 3.1
Refer to note 3.1 and 15.2
Refer to note 3.1 and 17
Refer to note 3.1

Estimates
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Refer to note 3.2 and 18
Refer to note 3.2 and 28
Refer to note 3.2 and 19 and 20
Refer to note 3.2 and 18
Refer to note 3.2 and 20
Refer to note 3.2 and 23
Refer to note 3.2 and 24
Refer to note 3.2 and 17
Refer to note 3.2 and 21

Impairment of investments in subsidiaries
Share based options
Impairment of inventories and property, plant and equipment
Fair value of consideration on acquisition
Depreciation and amortisation charges
Embedded derivatives
Provision for rehabilitation
Exploration and evaluation expenditure
Provision for expected credit losses (ECLs) of trade receivables

Significant judgements
Key judgements

Effect on financial statements

Recoverability of related party receivables
The directors' assessment of the The
directors'
assessment
of
recoverability of related party recoverability is based on the financial
receivables directly impacts the position of the related party and their
carrying value in the financial
ability to access resources sufficient to
statements at reporting date.
repay the receivables.
Estimate on measurement of tailing consumption
Estimate on the measurement and The estimate of tailings measurement
consumption
of
the
tailings and consumption impacts the rate of
consumption is in accordance with depreciation of property, plant and
the CSA Global, Competent equipment along with the utilisation of
Persons Report (CPR) and the the tailings inventory on the units of
associated mining plan which is production basis. It also impacts the
based on the best estimates of working capital estimates utilised as part
information available at year end. of the directors assessment of the
Group’s going concern.
Functional currency
The functional currency for the
parent entity and each of its
subsidiaries, is the currency of the
primary economic environment in
which the entity operates.

Alternative accounting
judgement that could have
been applied

If the Group has determined A reduction of £755,178 in
that these receivables are not receivables.
recoverable the value would be
£nil.

If the estimate varies, this will Not quantified.
have an impact on the Group’s
depreciation, cost of sales and
going concern assumption.

The functional currency of the entitles in The
Group
could
have
the Group is Pounds Sterling or determined different functional
Australian Dollars.
currencies of each entity within
the Group.
Determination of functional currency
involves judgements to identify the
primary economic environment and the
parent entity reconsiders the functional
currency of its entities if there is a
change in events and conditions which
determined the primary economic
environment.
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Effect of that alternative
accounting judgement

Foreign currency transactions
and
consolidation
into
presentational
currency
reporting would have resulted in
a different amount of foreign
currency gains or losses
recognised.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT.)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
3

Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions (cont.)

3.1

Significant judgements (cont.)
Key judgements

Deferred tax assets
Judgement is required in relation
to the following:
- to determine whether deferred
tax assets are recognised in the
statement of financial position.
Deferred tax assets, including
those arising from unutilised tax
losses, require the Group to
assess the likelihood that the
Group will generate sufficient
taxable earnings in future periods,
in order to utilise recognised
deferred tax assets.
- to determine which
arrangements are considered to
be a tax on income as opposed to
an operating cost.
- in respect of the application of
existing tax laws in each
jurisdiction.
- future changes in tax laws in the
jurisdictions in which the Group
operates could limit the ability of
the Group to obtain tax deductions
in future periods.

Effect on financial statements

Alternative accounting
judgement that could have
been applied

Effect of that alternative
accounting judgement

The Group has tax losses, and other
deductible
temporary
differences,
mainly in Australian, and United
Kingdom taxable entities, that have the
potential to reduce tax payments in
future years. Deferred tax assets have
been recognised to the extent that their
recovery is probable, having regard to
the availability of sufficient taxable
temporary differences relating to the
same taxation authority and the same
taxable entity, the estimates of projected
future taxable income of these taxable
entities and after taking account of
specific risk factors that are expected to
affect the recovery of these assets
including risk of expiry of losses. As
there is a history of tax losses within the
Group, there is not compelling evidence
to
substantiate the recognition of
deferred tax assets in the financial
statements. Additionally, the acquisition
of the Keen Pacific Group during the
2017 financial year has required
detailed assessments by management
as to whether carry forward losses at the
time of acquisition are available to
continue to be carried forward.
Management are still continuing their
determination on this as at the date of
this report and as such have determined
to exclude them from the disclosures in
the financial statements.

If the Group has determined
Recognition of potential losses
that the utilisation of these
of £47m relating to unutilised
losses were more certain then tax assets of £9m
full recognition would have
taken place.

Subsequent to year end, the Group's tax
residency is being reviewed. Currently,
there is no evidence to conclude on this
matter. Refer to note 35 for further
details

Exploration and evaluation
The application of the Group’s The estimates directly impact when the
accounting
policy
for
E&E Group defers E&E expenditure. The
expenditure requires judgement to deferral policy requires management to
determine whether future economic make
certain
estimates
and
benefits are likely from either future assumptions about future events and
exploitation or sale, or whether circumstances, particularly, whether an
activities have not reached a stage economically viable extraction operation
that
permits
a
reasonable can be established.
assessment of the existence of
reserves. In addition to applying Any such estimates and assumptions
judgement to determine whether may change as new information
future economic benefits are likely becomes available. If, after expenditure
to arise from the Group’s E&E is capitalised, information becomes
assets or whether activities have available suggesting that the recovery of
not reached a stage that permits a expenditure is unlikely, the relevant
reasonable assessment of the capitalised amount is written off to the
existence of reserves, the Group statement of profit or loss and other
has to apply a number of estimates comprehensive income in the period
and
assumptions.
The when the new information becomes
determination of a JORC resource available.
is itself an estimation process that
involves varying degrees of
uncertainty depending on how the
resources are classified (i.e.,
measured, indicated or inferred).
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If the Group had determined Cessation of capitalisation of
that there are no future exploration and evaluation
economic benefits from the expenditure
and,
or
further exploitation of the impairment
of
£1,238,000
exploration
permits,
then capitalised to 31 December
capitalisation of expenditures 2019.
would have ceased and, or,
expenditures capitalised to date
would be fully written off.
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3

Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions (cont.)

3.1

Significant judgements (cont.)
Key judgements

Effect on financial statements

Production start date
The Group assesses the stage of
each mine under development
and construction to determine
when a mine moves into the
production phase, this being when
the mine is substantially complete
and ready for its intended use.

At this point, all related amounts are
reclassified
from
‘Mines
under
construction’ to ‘Producing mines’
and/or ‘Property, plant and equipment’.
Some of the criteria used to identify the
production start date include, but are not
limited to:
• Level of capital expenditure incurred
The criteria used to assess the
compared with the original construction
start date are determined based
cost estimate
on the unique nature of each mine • Completion of a reasonable period of
development/construction project, testing of the mine plant and equipment
such as the complexity of the
• Ability to produce metal in saleable
project and its location.
form (within specifications)
• Ability to sustain ongoing production
The Group considers various
of metal
relevant criteria to assess when
the production phase is
The Hellyer mine in Tasmania Australia,
considered to have commenced. has commenced production in the last
quarter of 2018. At this point, the
capitalisation
of
certain
mine
development costs ceases and costs
are either regarded as forming part of
the cost of inventory or expensed,
except for costs that qualify for
capitalisation relating to mining asset
additions
or
improvements,
underground mine development or
mineable reserve development. It is also
at this point that depreciation/
amortisation commences.

3.2

Alternative accounting
judgement that could have
been applied
If the Group has determined a
different production start date,
this will impact on the costs
which qualify for capitalisation
relating to mining asset
additions or improvements.
There will also be a change in
the depreciation for the year.

Not quantified.

Significant estimates
Key estimate area

Key assumption

Potential
Potential
impact within impact in the
the next
longer term
financial year

Impairment of
investments in
subsidiaries

The Directors have reviewed the carrying amount of investments and
have not identified any indicators of impairment. The main
investment has resulted from the acquisition of Keen Pacific
Limited as outlined in the note reference.

a

a

18

Share based options

All share based options are settled in the form of equity issued and
are measured at fair value. The fair value of the equity settled
transactions have been determined by the directors utilising the
binomial option-pricing model. A change in the inputs to this model
could lead to a material change to the value of the share based
options.

a

a

28

Impairment of
inventories and
property, plant and
equipment

Impairment of inventories and property, plant and equipment of the
Hellyer mine site is subject to significant estimation, due to the
complexity of the accounting requirements and the significant
judgement required in determining the assumptions to be used to
estimate the recoverable amount.

a

a

19, 20

The recoverable amount is based on the higher of the value in use
or fair value less costs to sell, has been derived from discounted
forecast cash flow models. These models use several key
assumptions, including estimates of future sales volumes, and
prices, operating costs, terminal value and the weighted-average
cost of capital (discount rate).

3

Effect of that alternative
accounting judgement

Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions (cont.)
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Note
reference
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3.2

Significant estimates (cont.)
Key estimate area

Fair
value
consideration
acquisition

Key assumption

Potential
Potential
impact within impact in the
the next
longer term
financial year

of On 18 May 2017, the Company acquired all of the issued and
on outstanding shares in Keen Pacific Limited, along with its whollyowned subsidiaries Ivy Resources Pty Ltd and Hellyer Gold Mines
Pty Ltd ("Keen Pacific Limited Group"). The Company acquired the
Keen Pacific Limited Group for an estimated fair value consideration
of £20,796,000, which includes the issue of 141,671,377 shares in
the Company to the vendors. Included in the consideration paid or
payable in shares of the Company is an amount of £3,878,841 which
reflects 65,021,012 contingent shares in the Company which are only
issuable on the exercise of underlying dilutive outstanding financing
options and convertible notes which have conversion periods ranging
to June 2022.

Note
reference

a

a

18

a

a

20

a

a

23.2

a

a

21

The accounting for this transaction is complex due to the significant
judgements and estimates that are required to determine the values
of the consideration transferred and the identification and
measurement of the fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. The fair value of the consideration paid and the value of
assets and liabilities acquired, was determined through an
independent valuation performed by a valuer with appropriate skill
and experience. The inputs are outlined in detail in the note
reference.
Depreciation and
amortisation charges

The Group determines the estimated useful lives and related
depreciation charges for its property, plant and equipment. The
useful life has been determined to be in-line with the life of the
mine, on a monthly production basis. This useful lives could
change significantly as a result of changes in the resource,
technical innovations or some other event.
The depreciation charge will increase where the useful lives are
less than previously estimated lives, or technically obsolete or nonstrategic assets that have been abandoned or sold will be written
off or written down.

Embedded derivatives In connection with debt funding agreements, the Group has a
requirement to credit various financier amounts in connection with
gold and silver streaming agreements entered into.
The derivative financial instrument has been valued based on
expected future gold and silver sales for the life of the current project
which requires management to make certain estimates on production
annual volumes, gold and silver payability contained and forecast
sales prices. If the estimates on these inputs were to differ, this could
lead to a material change to the value of the derivative.
In addition the Weighted Average Cost of Capital ("WACC") of the
Group has been applied to the forecasts in determining the discount
rate. A change in the Group's WACC could also result in a material
change.

Provision for expected The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
credit losses (ECLs) of receivables. The provision rates are based on days past due for
trade receivables
groupings of various customer segments that have similar loss
patterns (e.g., by geography, product type, customer type and/or
rating, and coverage by letters of credit and other forms of credit
insurance). The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s
historical observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix
to adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward- looking
information. For instance, if forecast economic conditions are
expected to deteriorate over the next year, which can lead to an
increased number of defaults, the historical default rates are
adjusted. At every reporting date, the historical observed default
rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates
are analysed.
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Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions (cont.)

3.2

Significant estimates (cont.)
Key estimate area

Key assumption

Potential
Potential
impact within impact in the
the next
longer term
financial year

Note
reference

Provision for expected
credit losses (ECLs) of
trade receivables
(cont'd)

The assessment of the correlation between historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a significant
estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in
circumstances and of forecast economic conditions. The Group’s
historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic conditions
may also not be representative of customer’s actual
default in the future.

a

a

21

Provision for
rehabilitation

Provision is made for close-down, restoration and environmental
costs when the obligation occurs, based on the net present value of
estimated future costs with, where appropriate, probability weighting
of the different remediation and closure scenarios.

a

a

24

a

a

17

The ultimate cost of closedown and restoration is uncertain, and
management uses its judgment and experience to determine the
potential scope of rehabilitation work required and to provide for the
costs associated with that work. Adjustments are made to provisions
when the range of possible outcomes becomes sufficiently narrow to
permit reliable estimation.
Cost estimates can vary in response to many factors including:
changes to the relevant legal or local/national government ownership
requirements and any other commitments made to stakeholders;
review of remediation and relinquishment options; the emergence of
new restoration techniques and the effects of inflation. External
experts support the cost estimation process.
If the cost estimates and the discounting estimates were to differ this
could lead to a material change in the provision. The inputs are
outlined in the note reference.
Exploration and
Impairment of exploration and evaluation expenditure of the
evaluation expenditure Queensland site is subject to significant estimation, due to the
complexity of the accounting requirements and the significant
judgement required in determining the assumptions to be used to
estimate the recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is based on the higher of the value in use
or fair value less costs to sell, has been derived from discounted
forecast cash flow models. These models use several key
assumptions, including estimates of future sales volumes, and
prices, operating costs, terminal value and the weighted-average
cost of capital (discount rate).
If, after expenditure is capitalised, information becomes available
suggesting that the recovery of expenditure is unlikely, the amount
capitalised is written off in profit and loss in the period when the new
information becomes available. As at 31 December 2019, no such
information is available to suggest that the expenditure is not
recoverable.
4

Changes in accounting policies and disclosures

4.1

New and amended standard and interpretations
The Group applied IFRS 16 Leases and IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments for the first time from 1 January 2019. The nature
and effect of these changes as a result of the adoption of these new standards are described below. Other than the changes described below,
the accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year.
Several other amendments and interpretations applied for the first time in 2019, but did not have an impact on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group and, hence, have not been disclosed. The Group has not early adopted any standards, interpretations or amendments
that have been issued but are not yet effective.
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4
Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (cont'd)
4.1

New and amended standard and interpretations (cont'd)
IFRS 16 Leases
Overview
IFRS 16 supersedes IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease, SIC-15 Operating Leases - Incentives
and SIC-27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. The standard sets out the principles for the
recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases and requires lessees to recognise most leases on the balance sheet under
a single on-balance sheet model.
Lessor accounting under IFRS 16 is substantially unchanged from IAS 17 other than the requirements applying to subleases. Lessors will
continue to classify all leases as either operating leases or finance leases using similar principles as in IAS 17. IFRS 16 does not have any
impact for leases where the Group is the lessor. IFRS 16 also requires lessees and lessors to make more extensive disclosures than under
IAS 17.
Overall impact
The Group has lease contracts over warehouse facilities. It does not have any subleases. Before the adoption of IFRS 16, the Group classified
each of its leases (as lessee) at the inception date as either a finance lease or an operating lease. The Group had no finance leases.
The Group adopted IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective method of adoption, with the date of initial application of 1 January 2019. Under
this method, the standard has been applied retrospectively with the cumulative effect of initially applying the standard recognised as an
adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings (or other component of equity, as appropriate) at the date of initial application and
comparatives have not been restated. The Group has applied the new definition of a lease to all arrangements still effective at the date of
initial application.
Upon adoption of IFRS 16, the Group applied a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases except for short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets. The Group has leases of certain office equipment that are considered of low-value. The Director's have determined
that the adoption of the new accounting standard is not considered significant for the Group.
IFRIC Interpretation 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatment
The Interpretation addresses the accounting for income taxes when tax treatments involve uncertainty that affects the application of IAS 12
Income Taxes. It does not apply to taxes or levies outside the scope of IAS 12, nor does it specifically include requirements relating to interest
and penalties associated with uncertain tax treatments. The Interpretation specifically addresses the following:
•
Whether an entity considers uncertain tax treatments separately
•
The assumptions an entity makes about the examination of tax treatments by taxation authorities
•
How an entity determines taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates
The Group determines whether to consider each uncertain tax treatment separately or together with one or more other uncertain tax
treatments and uses the approach that better predicts the resolution of the uncertainty.
The Group applies significant judgement in identifying uncertainties over income tax treatments. Since the Group operates in a complex
multinational environment, it assessed whether the Interpretation had an impact on its consolidated financial statements.
Upon adoption of the Interpretation, the Group considered whether it has any uncertain tax positions, particularly those relating to transfer
pricing. The Company’s and the subsidiaries’ tax filings in different jurisdictions include deductions related to transfer pricing; the taxation
authorities may challenge those tax treatments. The Group determined, based on its tax compliance and transfer pricing study, that it is
probable that its tax treatments (including those for its subsidiaries) will be accepted by the taxation authorities. Therefore, the Interpretation
did not have an impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

5

Standards issues but not yet effective
The standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective, up to the date of issuance of the Group’s financial statements that the
Group reasonably expects will have an impact on its disclosures, financial position or performance when applied at a future date, are disclosed
below. The Group intends to adopt these standards when they become effective. Other standards and interpretations that are issued, but not
yet effective, have been reviewed, however are not expected to impact the Group and have not been disclosed.

6

Summary of significant accounting policies
The following principal accounting policies have been applied consistently in dealing with items which are considered material in relation to
the financial information. All other accounting policies are disclosed within the body of the notes.

6.1

Going concern
The financial report has been prepared on the going concern basis, which contemplates the continuity of normal business activity and the
realisation of assets and the settlement of liabilities in the normal course of business. The Consolidated Entity has incurred net losses after
tax of £35.93M (31 Dec 2018: £27.86M), and experienced net cash outflows from operations of £14.7M (31 Dec 2018: £13.48M) and net cash
flows from investing activities of £1.61M (31 Dec 2018: £12.21M) for the year ended 31 December 2019. As at 31 December 2019, the
Consolidated Entity had a deficiency of current assets to current liabilities of £27.67M (31 Dec 2018: £14.01M) and cash assets of
£1.49M (31 Dec 18: £0.51M). These conditions indicate a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about the Consolidated Entity’s
ability to continue as a going concern.
The Directors have considered the following in making their assessment of the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern:
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6

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd)

6.1

Going concern (cont'd)
(a) The Company commenced operations at its 100% owned Hellyer Gold Mines in 2018, and in November, 2018 realised its first revenues
from operations. For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Company realised £27.2M in revenues from contracts. The Company has been
consistently producing concentrates of lead, zinc and pyrite since November 2018 as operations improve to a steady run rate. On a monthly
basis, the Company invoices its selling agent through its offtake arrangements. The gross loss of £4.8M for the period to 31 December 2019 is
a result of operational start-up costs.
(b) Subsequent to the year end, the Company has secured additional funding via issue of new shares to fund ongoing working capital
requirements. The Directors anticipate being able to continue to raise funds under this bond at a similar level going forward.
(c) Subsequent to year end, NQ Minerals PLC and its subsidiary Hellyer Gold Mines Pty Ltd have agreed a US$41m banking refinancing facility
with ING Bank N.V. The facility comprises a 6 year amortising loan with a coupon rate of Libor + 6.5%. This allows NQ and Hellyer to retire
a portion of the initial project startup and commissioning debt and replace this expensive 12% debt with funding that has a significantly lower
interest rate and is more aligned with the project's maturity and projected life.
(d) The Company is also in advanced discussions with an existing lender and has entered into non-binding heads of terms, to restructure its
existing long-term debt obligations and anticipates finalising those agreements in the fourth quarter of 2020. The proposed amendments would
refinance the current repayment and interest rate profiles.
(e) The Group's shares are now traded in the USA through the OTC Markets. The Group now has an American Depository Receipt (“ADR”)
traded in the United States under the ticker NQMIY and the ordinary shares trade under the ticker NQMLF. Having an ADR traded in the United
States will provide additional trading liquidity in the world’s largest capital market. To further expand the global market presence. The Group
has also engaged specialists DGWA in Germany to seek a listing on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange (“Börse Frankfurt).
The ability of the Consolidated Entity to continue as a going concern and pay its liabilities as and when they fall due, given the Consolidated
Entity’s intended operational plans, is dependent upon the Company’s ability to secure new debt and/or equity in order to meet the Group’s
debt repayments and working capital requirements as they fall due. The Group has debt repayments of £28.5M due in the next 12 months this
includes an AUS$5.7m loan which according to the latest loan documentation is due for repayment in the second half of the 2020 financial
year. The Group is reliant on securing new debt and/or equity in order to meet these repayments. The Group is also reliant on the continuing
support of its current financiers. The Group believes that financing needs have been met through the refinancing with ING Bank N.V.
The directors are of the opinion that the use of the going concern basis of accounting is appropriate as they are confident in the ability of the
Consolidated Entity to be successful in securing additional funds through debt or equity issues. Notwithstanding this, as a junior producer with
a dependency on continued support from current financiers and on securing additional funding, should the Consolidated Entity be unable to
secure sufficient funding from the above or the continued support of current financiers, the Group would be unable to continue trading as a
going concern. In which case the Consolidated Entity would be required to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities other than in the
normal course of business and at amounts different to those stated in the financial statements.
The financial statements do not include any adjustments relating to the recoverability and classification of asset carrying amounts or the amount
of liabilities that might result should the Group be unable to continue as a going concern and meet its debts as and when they fall due. Should
the Group be unable to continue as a going concern, it may be required to realise its assets and extinguish its liabilities other than in the normal
course of business and at amounts different from those stated in the financial report. The financial report does not include any adjustments
relating to the recoverability and classification of recorded asset amounts nor to the amounts and classification of liabilities that may be
necessary should the Group be unable to continue as a going concern.

6.2

Financial assets
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity instrument of another
entity.
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, and subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through OCI, or fair value
through profit or loss.
The classification of financial assets at initial recognition that are debt instruments depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient, the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair value
plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient for contracts that have a maturity of one year or less, are
measured at the transaction price determined under IFRS 15. Refer to the revenue recognition accounting policy in Note 9.1.
In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost or fair value through OCI, it needs to give rise to cash flows that
are ‘solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI)’ on the principal amount outstanding. This assessment is referred to as the SPPI test and
is performed at an instrument level. Financial assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through profit
or loss, irrespective of the business model.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (cont.)

6.2

Financial assets (cont'd)
The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows. The
business model determines whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial
assets classified and measured at amortised cost are held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows while financial assets classified and measured at fair value through OCI are held within a business model with the
objective of both holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling.
Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a time frame established by regulation or convention in the
market place (regular way trades) are recognised on the trade date, i.e., the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Subsequent Measurement
For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in four categories:
•
Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments);
•
Financial assets at fair value through OCI with recycling of cumulative gains and losses (debt instruments);
•
Financial assets designated at fair value through OCI with no recycling of cumulative gains and losses upon derecognition
(equity instruments);
•
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.
Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
This category is the most relevant to the Group. The Group measures financial assets at amortised cost if both of the following conditions
are met:
•
The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows; and
•
The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding
Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest rate (EIR) method and are subject to impairment.
Interest received is recognised as part of finance income in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. Gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired. The Group’s financial assets at amortised cost include
trade receivables (not subject to provisional pricing), other receivables and receivables from joint arrangements. Refer below to ‘Financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss’ for a discussion of trade receivables (subject to provisional pricing).
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading, e.g., derivative instruments, financial assets
designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss, e.g., debt or equity instruments, or financial assets mandatorily required
to be measured at fair value, i.e., where they fail the SPPI test. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the
purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term. Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives, are also classified as held for
trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments. Financial assets with cash flows that do not pass the SPPI test are
required to be classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model. Notwithstanding the criteria for
debt instruments to be classified at amortised cost or at fair value through OCI, as described above, debt instruments may be designated at
fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition if doing so eliminates, or significantly reduces, an accounting mismatch.
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the statement of financial position at fair value with net changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss.
A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract with a financial liability or non-financial host, is separated from the host and accounted for as a
separate derivative if: the economic characteristics and risks are not closely related to the host; a separate instrument with the same terms as
the embedded derivative would meet the definition of a derivative; and the hybrid contract is not measured at fair value through profit or loss.
Embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. Reassessment only occurs if there is
either a change in the terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash flows that would otherwise be required or a reclassification of
a financial asset out of the fair value through profit or loss category.
As IFRS 9 now has the SPPI test for financial assets, the requirements relating to the separation of embedded derivatives is no longer needed
for financial assets. An embedded derivative will often make a financial asset fail the SPPI test thereby requiring the instrument to be measured
at fair value through profit or loss in its entirety. This is applicable to the Group’s trade receivables (subject to provisional pricing). These
receivables relate to sales contracts where the selling price is determined after delivery to the customer, based on the market price at the
relevant Quotational Period (QP) stipulated in the contract. This exposure to the commodity price causes such trade receivables to fail the
SPPI test. As a result, these receivables are measured at fair value through profit or loss from the date of recognition of the corresponding
sale, with subsequent movements being recognised in ‘fair value gains/losses on provisionally priced trade receivables’ in the statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
Impairment of financial assets
Further disclosures relating to impairment of financial assets are also provided in the following notes
•
Disclosure of significant assumptions
Refer to Note 3.2
•
Trade and other receivables
Refer to Note 21
The Group recognises an allowance for ECLs for all debt instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the
difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at an approximation of the original EIR. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other
credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd)

6.2

Financial assets (cont'd)
ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are possible within the next 12-months (a 12-month ECL).
For those credit exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required
for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).
The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are past due. However, in certain cases, the Group may also
consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding
contractual amounts in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is written off when there
is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows and usually occurs when past due for more than one year and not
subject to enforcement activity.
For trade receivables (not subject to provisional pricing) and other receivables due in less than 12 months, the Group applies the simplified
approach in calculating Expected Credit Losses ("ECL's"), as permitted by IFRS 9. Therefore, the Group does not track changes in credit risk,
but instead, recognises a loss allowance based on the financial asset’s lifetime ECL at each reporting date. For any other financial assets
carried at amortised cost (which are due in more than 12 months), the ECL is based on the 12-month ECL. The 12-month ECL is the
proportion of lifetime ECLs that results from default events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting
date. However, when there has been a significant increase in credit risk since origination, the allowance will be based on the lifetime ECL.
When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition and when estimating ECLs,
the Group considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both
quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Group’s historical experience and informed credit assessment including
forward-looking information.
Derecognition
A financial asset (or, when applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognised when either:
•
The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or
•
The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received
cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ’pass-through’ arrangement and either:
(a)
the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset; or
(b)
the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset but has
transferred control of the asset.
When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates
if, and to what extent, it has retained the risks and rewards of ownership. When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all of the
risks and rewards of the asset, nor transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the
Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated
liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

6.3

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings, trade and
other payables or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate. All financial liabilities are recognised
initially at fair value and, in the case of interest-bearing loans and borrowings and trade and other payables, net of directly attributable
transaction costs. The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables, interest-bearing loans and borrowings including bank
overdrafts, and derivative financial instruments.
Subsequent measurement
For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial liabilities are classified in two categories:
•
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)
•
Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings and trade and other payables)
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities at FVTPL include financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at FVTPL.
The Group has not designated any financial liability as at FVTPL. Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for
the purpose of selling in the near term. This category includes derivative financial instruments entered into by the Group that are not designated
as hedging instruments as defined by IFRS 9. Separated embedded derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless they are
designated as effective hedging instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in the statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income.
Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings and trade and other payables)
This is the category most relevant to the Group. After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings and trade and other payables
are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the Effective Interest Rate ("EIR") method. Gains and losses are recognised in the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income when the liabilities are derecognised, as well as through the EIR amortisation
process. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral
part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as finance costs in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
Derecognition
A financial liability is derecognised when the associated obligation is discharged or cancelled or expires. When an existing financial liability is
replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as the derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd)

6.3

Financial liabilities (cont'd)
Derivative financial instruments
Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into and are
subsequently re-measured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as financial assets when the fair value is positive and as financial liabilities
when the fair value is negative. Any gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of derivatives are taken directly to the statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
Offsetting of financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the consolidated statement of financial position if there is
a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, to realise the assets
and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

6.4

Current versus non-current classifications
The Group presents assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position based on current/non-current classification. An asset is
current when it is:
•
Expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in normal operating cycle
•
Held primarily for the purpose of trading
•
Expected to be realised within 12 months after the reporting period; or
Cash or cash equivalent, unless restricted from being exchanged or used, to settle a liability for at least 12 months after the
•
reporting period
All other assets are classified as non-current.
A liability is current when either:
•
It is expected to be settled in the normal operating cycle
•
It is held primarily for the purpose of trading
•
It is due to be settled within 12 months after the reporting period; or
•
There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period
The Group classifies all other liabilities as non-current. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current assets and liabilities.

7

Correction of errors
During the 2019 financial year, the Group discovered that there were prior period errors relating to the following financial statements areas.
As consequence, these amounts have been mistatement in the prior year annual financial report. The errors have been corrected by restating
each of the affected financial statement line items for prior periods. The following tables summarise the impacts on the Group's consolidated
financial statements.

7.1

7.2

Consolidated statement of financial position

Impact of correction of error
As previously Adjustments
As restated
reported
2018
2018
2018
£’000s
£’000s
£’000s

Assets
Total assets

47,824

-

47,824

Liabilities
Financial liabilities
Other liabilities
Total liabilities

47,862
18,850
66,712

2,014
2,014

49,876
18,850
68,726

Equity
Accumulated losses
Other equity
Total equity

(45,581)
26,693
(18,888)

(2,014)
(2,014)

(47,595)
26,693
(20,902)

Consolidated statement of profit or loss and OCI

Impact of correction of error
As previously Adjustments
As restated
reported
2018
2018
2018
£’000s
£’000s
£’000s

Administrative expenses
Others
Loss for the year
Total comprehensive loss
Loss per share (pence) (basic and diluted)
7.3

(11,196)
(14,252)
(25,448)
(25,848)

(2,014)
(2,014)
(2,014)

(13,210)
(14,252)
(27,462)
(27,862)

(8.25p)

(0.065p)

(8.90p)

Nature of the prior period error
The prior period correction has resulted from an error in the discount formula for the Gold and Silver Streaming Financial Liabilities. The
valuation as at 31 December 2018 did not reflect the correct period from commencement to reporting date.
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Segmental disclosure
The Group’s assets and operations are located in Tasmania and Queensland, Australia. For management purposes, the Group is
organised into business units based on the main types of activities and has two reportable operating segments, as follows:
•
The exploration areas segment which undertakes exploration and evaluation activities in Queensland, Australia; and
•
The tailings facility segment which undertakes tailings reprocessing activities in Tasmania, Australia.
Other than the exploration area segment, no operating segments have been aggregated to form the above reportable operating segments.
The board of directors monitor the operating results of its business units separately for the purpose of making decisions about resource
allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on operating profit or loss and is measured consistently
with operating profit or loss in the consolidated financial statements. However, the Group’s financing (including finance costs and finance
income) and income taxes are managed on a Group basis and are not allocated to operating segments.
The accounting policies used by the Group in reporting segments internally are the same as those contained in Note 8.1 and the respective
quantitative and qualitative notes of the financial statements.
The Group's primary operations are its exploration assets located in Queensland, Australia, and its tailings assets located in Tasmania,
Australia. For management purposes, the Group is organised into these two business units and as such have been reported as the separate
segments below:
Exploration
Tailings
Head
Total
areas
assets
Office
2019
2019
2019
2019
Income
£’000s
£’000s
£’000s
£’000s
Revenue from contracts with customers
27,226
27,226
Interest
18
18
Other
22
22
Total income
27,267
27,267
Results
Consultancy fees
Depreciation
Interest expense
Amortisation of borrowing costs
Operational expenditures
Change in fair value of derivatives
Change in fair value of rehabilitation provisions
Loss before tax

(457)
(755)
(795)
(2,006)

(1,590)
(66)
(2,271)
(67)
(23,780)
(4,223)
(48)
(4,779)

(7,018)
(7,979)
(9,392)
(4,700)
(754)
(29,844)

(8,609)
(66)
(10,707)
(10,214)
(29,275)
(4,977)
(48)
(36,629)

Additions to non-current assets
Segment assets

2,090

1,560
24,364

22,114

1,560
48,569

Segment liabilities

3,860

33,998

67,088

104,946

Exploration
areas
2018
£’000s
Income
Revenue from contracts with customers
Interest
Other
Total income

1
1

Results
Consultancy fees
Depreciation
Interest expense
Amortisation of borrowing costs
Operational expenditures
Change in fair value of derivatives
Change in fair value of rehabilitation provisions
Non-cash items (other than depreciation and amortisation)
Loss before tax

(77)
(357)
(318)
(288)
(1,038)

Tailings
assets
2018
£’000s

Head
Office
2018
£’000s

Total
2018
£’000s

3,247
30
135
3,412

-

3,247
31
135
3,413

(1,020)
(191)
(1,124)
(18)
(6,259)
(310)
(34)
(5,544)

(4,980)
(5,199)
(5,207)
(3,243)
(671)
(1,733)
(21,033)

(6,077)
(191)
(6,680)
(5,543)
(9,790)
(981)
(34)
(1,733)
(27,615)

Additions to non-current assets
Segment assets

230
2,111

11,939
21,525

24,187

12,169
47,824

Segment liabilities

3,046

26,981

38,699

68,726

Geographical information
All revenue from customer contracts from tailings assets is incurred in US dollars, and pertains to one customer and the recognition point is
derived in Australia. All other revenue, expenditures, assets and liabilities relating to exploration and tailings assets are earned and incurred
in Australia, all amounts related to Head Office are earned and incurred in the United Kingdom.
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Segmental disclosure (cont.)

8.1

Accounting policy - Segmental disclosure
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker. The chief
operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has been
identified as the board of directors that makes strategic decisions.

9

Revenue from contracts with customers

Disaggregated revenue information
Types of goods
Lead concentrate
Zinc concentrate

Year ended
31 December
2019
£’000s

Year ended
31 December
2018
£’000s

22,002
5,224
27,226

2,581
665
3,247

The Group has entered into separate offtake agreements with Traxys Europe S.A. for both the lead and zinc concentrates which provide for
provisional pricing, meaning that the selling price is subject to final adjustment at the end of the quotation period based on the average price
for the month following delivery to the buyer. The variable pricing has been remeasured at the balance sheet date and has resulted in a
£41,000 and £nil pricing increase adjustment for lead and zinc concentrates respectively at 31 December 2019 (2018: £41,000 and
£2,000 respectively). All revenue from concentrates is recognised at a point in time when control transfers which is at the agreed delivery point
per the offtake agreements.
Trade receivables
The offtake agreements provide for a 90% upfront payment upon delivery based on the provisional pricing. The balance of the revenue to be
received has been recorded as trade receivables as these amounts represent the Group's right to consideration that is unconditional. Refer to
Note 21 for further details.
9.1

Accounting policy - Revenue from contracts with customers
The Group is principally engaged in the business of producing lead, zinc and pyrite concentrate. Revenue from contracts with customers is
recognised when control of the goods is transferred to the customer at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects
to be entitled in exchange for those goods. The Group has concluded that it is the principal in its revenue contracts because it typically controls
the goods before transferring them to the offtaker.
Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable from sales of concentrates to an end user, net of any buyers
discount, treatment charges, freight costs and value added tax. The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably
measured and when it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the entity.
The value of consideration is its fair value which equates to the contractually agreed price. The offtake agreements provide for provisional
pricing meaning that the selling price is subject to final adjustment at the end of the quotation period based on the average price for the month
following delivery to the buyer. The value of the consideration is therefore based on the provisional pricing using the best estimates when the
materials are delivered to the agreed transfer location. Revisions based on final pricing are remeasured on final payment date (being when
the final On Sale Price is determined) and also where an outstanding contract may cross reporting dates. This variable consideration is only
included in the transaction price if, and to the extent that, it is highly probable that its inclusion will not result in a significant revenue reversal
in the future when the uncertainty has been subsequently resolved. The variable consideration under the offtake agreements relates primarily
to the final commodity price in US$/DMT. These variables are obtained from the free quoted market and are the best estimates at the time of
revaluation.
Trade receivables
A receivable represents the Group’s right to an amount of consideration that is unconditional. Refer to Note 6.2, for the accounting policies
for financial assets and Note 21 for trade receivables.

10

Expenses by nature

Operating loss after charging / (crediting):
Administrative expenses
Employment and related costs
Legal and professional
Audit fees
Tax and accountancy
Consultancy fees
General expenses
Foreign exchange losses
Fair value through the profit and loss *

(a)

*

(a)

Year ended
31 December
2019
£’000s

Year ended
31 December
2018
£’000s

1,094
196
180
459
8,609
1,633
1,237
5,026
18,434

1,408
313
180
329
6,077
1,254
636
3,013
13,210

Fair value changes amounting to £5,025,528 (2018: £3,013,318) relates to the fair value measurement of embedded
derivatives and the provision for rehabilitation as at 31 December 2019. Refer to Notes 23.2 and 24 for further details.
The prior year figures have been restated, refer to note 23

Page 40

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT.)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
11

Finance costs

Finance costs
Interest on secured loans
Interest on convertible notes

12

Note
23.2
26

Year ended
31 December
2019
£’000s

Year ended
31 December
2018
£’000s

20,903
18
20,921

11,886
337
12,223

Year ended
31 December
2019
£’000s

Year ended
31 December
2018
£’000s

Auditor remuneration

Fees paid to the Group's auditor
- Audit of the group
- Non-audit services

60
60

13

Directors and employees

13.1

Year ended
31 December
2019
Number
The average monthly number of employees for the group (including Directors) during the year was:
Directors
8
Operations and maintenance staff
13
Office management staff
8
29

13.2

Year ended
31 December
2019
£’000s

Highest paid director during the period:
Emoluments for qualifying services of directors
Share options

400
400

Year ended
31 December
2019
£’000s
13.2 Staff costs for all key management personnel, including Directors, consists of:
Emoluments for qualifying services of directors
948
Share options - directors
Emoluments for qualifying services of key management personnel
273
Share options - key management personnel
1,221

60
120
180

Year ended
31 December
2018
Number
9
6
1
16
Year ended
31 December
2018
£’000s
1,091
1,091
Year ended
31 December
2018
£’000s
1,705
579
453
729
3,466

Key management personnel ("KMP") includes Steve White who is the director of Hellyer Gold Mines Pty Ltd.

The Company issued nil (2018: 8,000,000) Share Options with a value of £nil (2018: 578,898) to no (2018: two) directors during the 2019
financial year and nil (2018: 8,000,000) Share Options with a value of £nil (2018: £729,452) to no (2018: two) key management personnel.
Further details on the Share Options are outlined in Note 28.

13.3 Analysis of wages:
Salaries and wages
Pension and superannuation

14

Year ended
31 December
2019
£’000s

Year ended
31 December
2018
£’000s

904
83
986

506
46
553

Year ended
31 December
2019
£’000s

Year ended
31 December
2018
£’000s

Finance income

Interest received

19
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Income tax
15.1 Income tax expense
The major component of income tax expense for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018 are:
Year ended
31 December
2019
£’000s
Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
Income tax expense
Current tax expense
Deferred taxes
689
Income tax recognised in profit or loss
689

Year ended
31 December
2018
£’000s

153
153

A reconciliation between tax expense and the accounting profit multiplied by the Group's domestic tax rate for the year ended 31
December 2019 and 2018 is, as follows:
Loss on ordinary activities before taxation
(36,629)
(27,615)
At the prevailing rate of UK corporation tax of 19% (2018:
19%)
Effects of:
Non-deductible expenditure
Deferred taxation not recognised
Utilisation of unrecognised tax losses
Other

(6,960)

(5,247)

4,814
2,579
(597)
853
689

2,735
2,254
299
(271)
153

The Group and Company have estimated unutilised losses of £47.m (2018: £29.4m) and £33.6m (2018: £33.6m) respectively.
The tax losses have resulted in potential deferred tax assets for the Group and Company of approximately £12.9m (2018: £8.1m) and
£6.4m (2018: £6.4m) respectively, calculated using the prevailing rate of Australia corporation tax of 27.5% (2018: 27.5%) for the Group and
the prevailing rate of UK corporation tax of 19.00% (2018: 19.00%) for the Company. These have not been recognised as it is uncertain
whether future taxable profits will be sufficient to utilise the losses.
The carry forward tax losses of the Keen Pacific Group prior to acquisition amounted to £9,144,000 and have not been recognised in the
above figures. Management are still continuing their determination on this as at the date of this report as to whether these losses are accessible
to be carried forward and as such have determined to exclude them from the above disclosures in the financial statements.
15.2

Deferred income tax
Group
Year ended
31 December
2019
2018
£’000s
£’000s
Income tax related
Deferred income tax liabilities
Mining tenements
Inventory
Plant and equipment

Opening balance
Charged to the profit and loss
Charged to the foreign currency exchange reserve
Deferred tax liabilities (net)
Deferred income tax assets
Provision for rehabilitation

Opening balance
Charged to the profit and loss
Charged to the foreign currency exchange reserve
Deferred tax liabilities (net)

Parent
Year ended
31 December
2019
2018
£’000s
£’000s

6,170
(199)
5,971

(1,069)
6,323
1,701
6,955

-

-

6,955
(524)
(461)
5,971

7,402
(164)
(283)
6,955

-

-

851
851

986
986

-

-

986
(25)
(110)
851

1,032
(10)
(36)
986

-

-

Deferred tax income
Deferred tax liabilities (net)

5,120

5,969

-

-

Reflected in the statement of financial position as follows:
Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities (net)

851
5,971
5,120

986
6,955
5,969

-

-

No deferred tax assets have been recorded for the carry forward losses of the group as outlined in Note 15.
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Income tax (cont'd)
No deferred tax asset has been recognised on rehabilitation provisions (refer to Note 24 for further details of this accounting policy).
Deferred tax liabilities have arisen as a result of the acquisition of Keen Pacific Limited and its wholly owned subsidiary Hellyer Gold Mines
Pty Ltd. The deferred tax liabilities comprise of temporary differences attributable to the value of the mining tenements, inventory and property,
plant and equipment upon recognition of Hellyer Gold Mines Pty Ltd into the consolidated Group as outlined in Note 18. During the financial
year, £163,338 was credited to the income statement which is attributable to the amortisation to cost of sales based on units of production
during the financial year.

15.3

Accounting policy - Income tax
Current income tax which is payable on taxable profits is recognised as an expense in the period in which the profits arise. The tax rates and
tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date in the countries where the
Group operates and generates taxable income.
Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet method on temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes at the reporting date. Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:
•
Where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit (tax loss); and
•
In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint ventures,
where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled by the parent, investor or venturer and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carry-forward of unused tax credits and any unused tax losses,
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:
•
Where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability
in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss; and
•
In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint
ventures, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the
foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available, against which the temporary differences can be utilised.
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred
tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable
profit will be available to allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the asset is realised or
the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

15.4

Accounting policy - sales tax
Expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of sales tax, except:
•
When the sales tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in which case,
the sales tax is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item, as applicable; and
•
When receivables and payables are stated with the amount of sales tax included.
The net amount of sales tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables in the
statement of financial position.

16

Loss per share

Year ended
Year ended
31 December
31 December
2019
2018
Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss attributable to equity shareholders by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue during the year:
Loss after tax attributable to equity holders of the Company
(35,940,000)
(27,461,936)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares
328,614,465
308,410,022
Basic and diluted loss per share
(10.94p)
(8.90p)

Diluted loss per share
Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding to assume conversion of
all dilutive potential ordinary shares. Since the Group does not have any dilutive potential ordinary shares at the balance sheet date, the diluted
loss per share is the same as the basic loss per share.
Potentially convertible shares
The Company has convertible ordinary shares on issue as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 as follows:
•
65,021,012 (2018: 65,021,012) contingent shares in the Company in connection with the purchase of Keen Pacific Limited which
are only issuable on the exercise of underlying dilutive outstanding financing options and convertible notes which have conversion
periods ranging to June 2022. Refer to Note 18 for further details;
•
33,043,739 (2018: 23,831,827) convertible ordinary shares in connection with the convertible notes on issue at year end. These
convertible notes have a maturity date within the next 12 months for further details, refer to note 26; and
•
190,926,920 (2018: 190,926,920) options in issue to various directors and financiers as disclosed in Note 28. These share options
expire in the 2021 and 2022 financial year.
The above have not been factored into the loss per share calculation as they do not dilute current earnings per share.
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Exploration and evaluation assets

17.1

Exploration and evaluation assets
Group
Exploration/
evaluation costs
£’000s

Group
Total
£’000s

Cost
At 31 December 2017
Additions
Foreign exchange differences
At 31 December 2018
Additions
Foreign exchange differences
At 31 December 2019

1,075
271
(41)
1,305
72
(52)
1,325

1,075
271
(41)
1,305
72
(52)
1,325

Impairment
At 31 December 2017
Impairment loss
Foreign exchange differences
At 31 December 2018
Impairment loss
Foreign exchange differences
At 31 December 2019

87
3
(3)
87
3
(3)
87

87
3
(3)
87
3
(3)
87

Carrying Value
At 31 December 2018

1,218

1,218

At 31 December 2019

1,238

1,238

Included within Group exploration and evaluation costs is £167,100 of expenditure attributable to obtaining a mining lease which has been
approved on 5 January 2018. The mining lease is subject to a royalty payment pursuant to an agreement executed with the Balganunna
Aboriginal Corporation which provides that an amount of twenty percent of the royalty paid to the State of Queensland will be paid to a
nominated entity.
Mineral resources acquired are not subject to amortisation until they are included in the life-of-mine plan and production has commenced.
17.2

Accounting policy Exploration and evaluation assets
Mineral assets: exploration and evaluation expenditure
E&E activity involves the search for mineral resources, the determination of technical feasibility and the assessment of commercial viability
of an identified resource.
E&E activity includes
•
Researching and analysing historical exploration data
•
Gathering exploration data through geophysical studies
•
Exploratory drilling and sampling
•
Determining and examining the volume and grade of the resource
•
Surveying transportation and infrastructure requirements
•
Conducting market and finance studies
Exploration and evaluation expenditure in relation to separate areas of interest for which rights of tenure are current is carried forward as an
asset in the statement of financial position where it is expected that the expenditure will be recovered through the successful development and
exploitation of an area of interest, or by its sale; or exploration activities are continuing in an area and activities have not reached a stage
which permits a reasonable estimate of the existence or otherwise of economically recoverable reserves. Where a project or an area of interest
has been abandoned, the expenditure incurred thereon is written off in the year in which the decision is made.
All lease and licence acquisition costs, geological and geophysical costs and other direct costs of exploration, evaluation and development
are capitalised as intangible or property, plant and equipment according to their nature. Intangible assets comprise costs relating to the
exploration and evaluation of properties which the Directors consider to be unevaluated until reserves are appraised as commercial, at which
time they are transferred to tangible assets as ‘Developed mineral assets’ following an impairment review and depreciated accordingly. Where
properties are appraised to have no commercial value, the associated costs are treated as an impairment loss in the period in which the
determination is made.
Impairment of mineral assets: deferred exploration and evaluation
An impairment test is performed for deferred exploration and evaluation assets whenever events and circumstances arise that indicate that
the carrying value of deferred exploration and evaluation assets may exceed its recoverable amount. The aggregate carrying value is
compared against the expected recoverable amount.
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Exploration and evaluation assets (cont'd)

17.2 Accounting policy Exploration and evaluation assets (cont'd)
Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that necessarily takes a substantial period of
time to get ready for its intended use or sale (a qualifying asset) are capitalised as part of the cost of the respective asset. Borrowing costs
consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds. Where funds are borrowed specifically to
finance a project, the amount capitalised represents the actual borrowing costs incurred. Where surplus funds are available for a short term
from funds borrowed specifically to finance a project, the income generated from the temporary investment of such amounts is also capitalised
and deducted from the total capitalised borrowing cost. Where the funds are used to finance a project form part of general borrowings, the
amount capitalised is calculated using a weighted average of rates applicable to relevant general borrowings of the Group during the period.
All other borrowing costs are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in the period in which they are
incurred. Even though exploration and evaluation assets can be qualifying assets, they generally do not meet the ’probable economic benefits’
test and also are rarely debt funded. Any related borrowing costs incurred during this phase are therefore generally recognised in the statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in the period they are incurred.
18

Investments in subsidiary undertakings
Shares in Group
Undertakings
£’000s

Company
Cost
As at 31 December 2017
Additions in the year
As at 31 December 2018
Additions in the year
31 December 2019

28,088
28,088
28,088

The above investments in subsidiaries relate to the following:
NQ Minerals Pty Ltd
Keen Pacific Limited

7,292
20,796
28,088

NQ Minerals Pty Ltd
On 25 May 2015, the Company acquired 100% of the share capital of NQ Minerals Pty Limited by a share for share exchange. The 121,546,000
ordinary shares issued as consideration had a fair value equal to £7,292,760. Details of the price and consideration are as set out as follows.
£’000s
7,292
121,546,000 ordinary shares of £0.001 at a fair value of £0.06

Included in the consideration paid or payable in shares of the Company is an amount of £3,878,841 which reflects 65,021,012 contingent
shares in the Company which are only issuable on the exercise of underlying dilutive outstanding financing options and convertible notes
which have conversion periods ranging from April 2020 to June 2022. The fair value measurements of these contingent shares have been
based on a discounted calculation of these conversion periods and an 85% probability factor of conversion due to underlying project
characteristics. There were no issuances of these outstanding shares during the 2019 financial year (2018: £nil).
The financial assets acquired amounting to £1,101,000 pertain to the mining tenements' Government prescribed make-good requirements as
insurance against eventual closure costs and is held in the form of a cash bond. The provision for rehabilitation amounting to
£4,043,000 relates to the Government prescribed make-good requirements as well as the estimated costs of complete site rehabilitation and
closure, including the costs of removing infrastructure. The provision for rehabilitation on acquisition was discounted at a rate of 2.49%
reflecting the 10 year corporate bond rating. This provision has been re-measured as at 31 December 2019. Refer to Notes 23.1 and 24 for
further details.
Summary of Group entities
The Company’s investments at the reporting date in the share capital of companies include the following:
Country of
Registered Office
Principal
Incorporation
NQ Minerals Pty Limited

Australia

Level 6, 9 Beach Road, Surfers Paradise,
Australia

Circle Resources Pty Limited*

Australia

Level 6, 9 Beach Road, Surfers Paradise, Assets held for

Keen Pacific Limited

BVI

Holding
company

Australia
30C Morrison Plazam 5-9A Morrison Hill
Road, Wan Chai, Hong Kong

exploration
Holding
company
Holding
company

Ivy Resources Pty Ltd*

Australia

Level 11, 50 Market Street, Melbourne,
Australia

Hellyer Gold Mines Pty Ltd*

Australia

Level 11, 50 Market Street, Melbourne, Assets held for

NQ Minerals Pte Ltd

Pieman Resources Pty Ltd*

Australia
Singapore 16 Collyer Quay, #17-00 Income at Raffles,
Singapore
Australia

mining
Dormant

Level 11, 50 Market Street, Melbourne, Assets held for
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Class of
Shares

% Owned

Ordinary

100

Ordinary

100

Ordinary

100

Ordinary

100

Ordinary

100

Ordinary

100

Ordinary

100
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* 100% owned indirectly

Australia

mining

18.1 Accounting policy - Investments in subsidiary undertakings

Investments are held as non-current assets at cost less any provision for impairment. Where the recoverable amount of the investment is
less than the carrying amount, impairment is recognised.
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Inventory
Group
Year ended
31 December
2019
2018
£’000s
£’000s
Current
Finished goods
Warehouse stock
Tailings
Non-Current
Tailings

Parent
Year ended
31 December
2019
2018
£’000s
£’000s

769
1,119
2,546
4,435

399
1,336
1,732
3,467

-

15,889
15,889

19,344
19,344

-

-

-

-

-

Tailings
Tailings inventory has arisen as a result of the acquisition of Keen Pacific Limited and its wholly owned subsidiary Hellyer Gold Mines Pty
Ltd. The tailings were recorded at their fair value on the date of acquisition as outlined in Note 18. During the financial year,
£1,745,533(2018: £429,016) of tailings have been recognised in cost of sales based on units of production.
Current tailings amounting to £2,546,000 (2018: £1,732,000) have been estimated based on the units of production anticipated for the next
financial year with reference to the mining plan supported by the GSA Global, Competent Persons Report.
The tailings are also included as part of the general security deed. Refer to Note 23.2 for further details.
Finished goods
Finished goods are recorded after a £93,000 (2018: £185,000) write down in value due to the grade levels of gold and silver contained
from early stage production. The write down in value has been included in the cost of sales.
Tailings
Inventory consists of existing tailings and was recorded at fair value on initial acquisition in accordance with the purchase price allocations in
Notes 18 and 19. Commercial production commenced in the 2018 financial year and therefore inventory forms part of cost of goods sold based
on UOP.
Warehouse
Warehouse inventories cost comprises direct purchase costs of consumables. Inventory is valued at the lower of cost or net realisable value.
Any provision for obsolescence is determined by reference to specific items of stock. A regular review is undertaken to determine the extent
of any provision for obsolescence.
20

Property, plant and equipment

Cost
At 31 December 2017
Additions
Foreign exchange
At 31 December 2018
Additions
Disposals
Foreign exchange
At 31 December 2019
Accumulated depreciation
At 31 December 2017
Charge for the year
At 31 December 2018
Charge for the year
At 31 December 2019
Net book value
At 31 December 2018
At 31 December 2019

Group
Mine
Buildings
£’000s
3,385
3,385
(267)
136
3,254
-

Group
Mine
Properties
£’000s
703
703
246
28
977
-

66
66
278
344

10
10
63
73

3,319
2,910

693
905

Group
Plant and
Equipment
£’000s
8,649
7,266
(460) .
15,455
0
(1,578)
619
14,496
445
115
560
(275)
285
14,895
14,211

Group
Capital In
Progress
£’000s
585
585
1,314
1,899
585
1,899

Group
Total
£’000s
8,649
11,939
(460)
20,128
1,560
(1,845)
783
20,627
445
191
636
66
702
19,492
19,925

During the 2018 financial year, the additions to property, plant and equipment were in connection to the Hellyer plant refurbishment project
which was completed on 31 August 2018, refer to note 18 for further details of the acquisition.
The property, plant and equipment additions are included as part of the general security deed. Refer to Note 23.2 for further details. Refer
to note 20.1 for details of the useful life of the asset.
20.1

Accounting policy - property, plant and equipment
Major maintenance and repairs
Expenditure on major maintenance refits or repairs comprises the cost of replacement assets or parts of assets and overhaul costs.
Where an asset, or part of an asset, that was separately depreciated and is now written off is replaced, and it is probable that future economic
benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group through an extended life, the expenditure is capitalised. Where part of the asset was
not separately considered as a component and therefore not depreciated separately, the replacement value is used to estimate the carrying
amount of the replaced asset(s) which is immediately written off. All other day-to-day maintenance and repairs costs are expensed as incurred.
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Property, plant and equipment (cont'd)

20.1

Accounting policy - property, plant and equipment (cont'd)
Depreciation of PPE
Property, plant and equipment is depreciated on a units of production (UOP) basis over the economically recoverable reserves of the mine
concerned, except in the case of assets whose useful life is shorter than the life of the mine, in which case, the straight-line method over their
estimated useful lives is used, as follows:
Buildings
10 years
Plant and Equipment
5 to 10 years
Non-mineral assets
All other items of property, plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost and subsequently carried at cost less accumulated depreciation
and accumulated impairment losses.
Mineral assets: development and production
Development and production (“D&P”) assets are accumulated on a field by field basis and represent the cost of developing the commercial
reserves discovered and bringing them into production, together with the exploration and evaluation (“E&E”) expenditures incurred in finding
commercial reserves transferred from intangible E&E assets as outlined above. The carrying values of producing assets are depreciated using
the unit of production method based on entitlement to provide by reference to the ratio of production in the period to the related commercial
reserves, taking into account any estimated future development expenditures necessary to bring additional non producing reserves into
production. An impairment test is performed for D&P assets whenever events and circumstances arise that indicate that the carrying value
of development or production phase assets may exceed its recoverable amount. The aggregate carrying value is compared against the
expected recoverable amount of each well, generally by reference to the present value of the future net cash flows expected to be derived
from production of commercial reserves.
Components of costs
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment initially recognised includes its purchase price and any cost that is directly attributable to
bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. Cost also
includes borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset.

21

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables
Related party
Loan - Bryn Smart
Loan receivable - Greg Lane
Loan receivable - Walter Doyle
Loan receivable - Jodo Gold Pty Ltd
Loan receivable - Selected Ventures Pty Ltd
Loan receivable - Intergroup Mining Pty Ltd
Loan receivable - Kaeva Pty Ltd
Loan receivable - Axatan Pty Ltd
Loan receivable - Direct Energy Holdings Pty Ltd
Loan receivable - Energy Storage Pty Ltd
Loan receivable - Circle Resources Pty Ltd
Loan receivable - NQ Minerals Pty Ltd
Loan receivable - Hellyer Gold Mines Pty Ltd
Prepayments
Other receivables

Group
Year ended
31 December
2019
2018
£’000s
£’000s
6
727
2
239
12
311
19
153
5
13
1
337
2,289
3,387

(6)
172
7
77
4
12
1
431
310
1,736

Parent
Year ended
31 December
2019
2018
£’000s
£’000s
239
132
107
934
10,563
36
225
12,236

(6)
168
(3)
112

90
196
5,383
14
168
6,122

Trade receivables
Trade receivables are subject to provision pricing and are non-interest bearing, but are exposed to future commodity price movements and
hence fail the SPPI test and are measured at fair value up until the date of settlement. These trade receivables are initially measured at the
amount which the Group expects to be entitled, being the estimate of the price expected to be received. Approximately 90% of the provisional
invoice is received in cash when the goods are delivered to the agreed point which reduces the initial receivable recognised under IFRS 15.
The finalisation of the invoice can range up to 90 days from the end of the financial year. As the Group commenced commercial operations
during the 2018 financial year and have received full payment to date under the offtake agreements, there are no expected credit losses which
have been recorded in the financial statements. Management are confident that the full value of the trade receivables will be collected.
Related party
Refer to note 30 for further details on amounts receivable from related parties included within current receivables. Included within the
parent's related party receivables is £11,603,849 (2018: £5,669,097) owing from group companies, which is repayable on demand.
Impairment
The directors have reviewed the current receivables due and are satisfied that the amounts are fully recoverable, as such, no provisions
for impairment have been recorded.
Accounting policy
Refer to note 6.2 for the accounting policy for trade and other receivables
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Cash and cash equivalents
Group
Year ended
31 December
2019
2018
£’000s
£’000s
Cash at banks

1,489

513

Parent
Year ended
31 December
2019
2018
£’000s
£’000s
226

207

The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents approximates to its fair value. The Group deposits of cash are only with major banks of
high-quality standing.
22.1 Accounting policy - Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position comprise cash at bank and on hand and short term deposits with an original
maturity of three months or less, but exclude any restricted cash. Restricted cash is not available for use by the Group and therefore is not
considered highly liquid — for example, cash set aside to cover rehabilitation obligations. For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and short-term deposits as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.
23

Financial instruments

The group holds the following financial instruments:
Financial assets
Financial assets at amortised cost
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade receivables
Related party receivables
Other debtors
Financial assurance bond

Note

Financial liabilities
Liabilities at amortised cost
Trade payables
Related party payables
Accruals
Provision for share based payments
Other payables
Financial liabilities (current and non-current loans)
Other financial liabilities
Fair value through profit and loss
Embedded derivatives
Provision for rehabilitation
Convertible notes

23.1

Group
Year ended
31 December
2019
2018
£’000s
£’000s

Note 22
Note 21
Note 21
Note 21
Note 23.1

1,489
6
2,289
1,326
5,110

513
727
268
83
1,068
2,659

Note 25
Note 25
Note 25
Note 25
Note 25
Note 23.2
Note 23.2

5,160
330
446
1,000
4,680
64,129
1,753

2,921
410
1,000
1,438
38,052
607

Note 23.2
Note 24
Note 26

14,764
4,043
1,955
98,260

9,203
4,100
1,457
59,188

Financial assets
Group
Year ended
31 December
2019
2018
£’000s
£’000s
Financial assets

1,326

1,068

Parent
Year ended
31 December
2019
2018
£’000s
£’000s
-

-

The financial assets pertain to the mining tenements' Government prescribed make-good requirements as insurance against eventful closure
costs and is held in the form of a cash bond. Refer to Note 18 for further details.
23.2 Financial liabilities
Group
Year ended
31 December
2019
2018
£’000s
£’000s

(a)

Current:
Secured borrowings at amortised cost
Unsecured borrowings at amortised cost
Embedded derivatives at fair value through profit or loss
Other financial liabilities

16,833
1,396
2,714
1,753
22,696
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8,106
982
2,239
607
11,934

Parent
Year ended
31 December
2019
2018
£’000s
£’000s

11,572
1,296
331
13,198

250
317
567
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Financial instruments (cont.)

Secured borrowings at amortised cost
Kiwoz Limited
Traxys Europe S.A.
MCAF NQM Nominees Limited
Cato Henning Stonex
Darren Carter
Kiwoz Limited
RIVI Opportunity Fund
Embedded derivatives at fair value through profit and loss
Gold and silver streaming
Royalty payables

Group
Year ended
31 December
2019
2018
£’000s
£’000s

Parent
Year ended
31 December
2019
2018
£’000s
£’000s

2,136
3,125
2,477
77
666
3,113
5,240
16,833

2,203
5,903
8,106

2,477
77
666
3,113
5,240
11,572

2,383
331
2,714

1,922
317
2,239

331
331

317
317

Other financial liability includes streaming liability payable, royalties payable and premium funding liabilities.

Unsecured borrowings at amortised cost
Perennial Enterprise Pty Ltd
Apex Capital Solutions Pty Ltd
CP Funding 1 PLC

Group
Year ended
31 December
2019
2018
£’000s
£’000s

Parent
Year ended
31 December
2019
2018
£’000s
£’000s

100
1,296
1,396

1,296
1,296

482
250
250
982

250
250

During the financial year, the Group borrowed additional short term unsecured funds with a balance outstanding as at 31 December 2019
amounting to £1,395,513 (2018: £982,346). The funding is repayable within the next 12 months. Perennial Enterprise Pty Ltd is a related party
and further details are outlined in Note 30.
Embedded derivatives at fair value through profit and loss
Refer to the non-current note below for details regarding the embedded derivatives. The current liability represents the expected payments
over the next 12 months.
(b) Non-current:

2019
£’000s
Secured borrowings at amortised cost
Embedded derivatives at fair value through profit or loss*

45,900
12,050
57,950

Group
Year ended
31 December
2018
£’000s
28,963
8,978
37,942

Group
Year ended
31 December
2019
2018
£’000s
£’000s
Secured borrowings at amortised cost
Kiwoz Limited
MCAF NQM Nominees Limited
Cato Henning Stonex
Darren Carter
RIVI Opportunity Fund
RC Advisors LLC
Audley Funding PLC
Traxys Europe S.A.

*

4,724
41,176
45,900

1,876
1,577
61
572
4,585
2,829
15,882
1,582
28,963

2019
£’000s
45,900
3,120
49,020

Parent
Year ended
31 December
2018
£’000s
27,382
1,985
29,367

Parent
Year ended
31 December
2019
2018
£’000s
£’000s
4,724
41,176
45,900

1,876
1,577
61
572
4,585
2,829
15,882
27,382

The prior year embedded derivatives being the gold and silver streaming liabilities have been adjusted to reflect the change in
fair value of embedded derivatives.

During the 2017 financial year, the Company drew £23,860,000 principal in long-term funding to assist with the acquisition of Keen Pacific
Limited, for maintenance and refurbishment on the Hellyer plant and resource, and for working capital purposes. During the 2019 financial
year, the Company drew additional principal amounting to £25,127,780 under the Audley Funding Plc facility.
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23

Financial instruments (cont.)

23.2 Financial liabilities (cont'd)
The debt funding incurred total transaction costs amounting to £1,316,098 for the 2019 financial year (2018: £10,831,270) resulting in total
costs incurred to date amounting to £26,831,842 (2018: £25,515,744) which includes the issue of £nil (2018: £nil) options at a value of £nil
(2018: £nil) , the issue of nil (2018: 30,000,000) ordinary shares with a value of £nil (2018: £2,775,000) to facilitators, gold and silver streaming
embedded derivatives valued at £ £11,708,146 (2018: £6,901,000) and other royalty obligations valued at £nil (2018:
£4,648,000). The unamortised finance costs and loan arrangement fees amount to £9,092,899 (2018: £17,953,423).
The loans have an interest rate of between 9% and 13% per annum, payable at varying monthly, quarterly and half-yearly periods. Refer to
the analysis of borrowings below for the effective interest rates and maturity dates.
All loans are secured by a general security deed over all present and future assets and undertakings of the Company, including the Australian
subsidiaries and a mortgage in respect of the tenements held by Circle Resources Pty Ltd and mining lease held by Hellyer Gold Mines Pty
Ltd.
Subsequent to the year end, the Company has drawn and repaid additional funding on the loans. Refer to Note 35 for further details.
The loan from Audley Funding Plc comprises an asset-backed bond listed in Frankfurt facility to draw up to £50 million, US$50 million and
€50 million under separate currency series within the facility. As at 31 December 2019, £50,571,388 (2018: £25,863,000) had been drawn,
and £5,665,600 (2018: £3,309,000) had been held back by the financier in coupon and liquidity reserves which will be received by the Company
in future years. As outlined in Note 20 clarification was received on 14 September 2018 that these reserves held back have a right to set-off
under the loan agreement. As a result, the loan has been presented net of these reserves in the 2019 financial statements. The remaining
principal to be drawn under the facility amounts to £80,228,612 (2018: £63,492,000). This amount is only available for drawdown to the extent
that Audley Funding Plc are able to raise funds under the bond.
(b) Non-current:
Group
Year ended
31 December
2019
2018
£’000s
£’000s
Embedded derivatives at fair value through profit and loss
Gold and silver streaming *
Royalty payables

*

9,325
2,725
12,050

6,993
1,985
8,978

Parent
Year ended
31 December
2019
2018
£’000s
£’000s

3,120
3,120

1,985
1,985

The prior year figures have been restated, refer note 7 for further details.

A reconciliation of the current and non-current balances of the embedded derivatives at fair value through profit and loss are below:
Foreign
New
Opening
Change in fair
Closing
currency
instrument
balance
value
balance
translation
issued
Year ended 31 December 2018
Gold and silver streaming *
5,590
(393)
3,718
8,915
Royalty payables
(671)
2,973
2,302
5,590
(393)
1,033
2,973
11,217
Year ended 31 December 2019
Gold and silver streaming
8,915
190
4,223
(1,620)
11,708
Royalty payables
2,302
51
754
(51)
3,056
11,217
241
4,977
(1,671)
14,764
*

The prior year figures have been restated, refer note 7 for further details.

In connection with the RIVI Opportunity Fund and RC Advisors LLC's financing, the Company has a requirement to credit the financier amounts
in connection with gold and silver streaming agreements entered into. The derivative financial instrument has been valued based on expected
future gold and silver sales for the life of the current project and has been discounted at a rate reflecting the weighted average cost of
capital.
Management have recalculated the fair value of the embedded derivatives since last reporting date, which has resulted in a net
£4,977,219 (2018: £1,033,122) loss on the change in fair value being recognised through the profit and loss.
The gold and silver streaming liabilities are valued using valuation techniques with both level 1 and level 3 inputs from the valuation hierarchy.
Level 1 inputs are those which are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets, where as level 3 inputs are based on techniques that
have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that are not based on observable market data. The valuation model incorporates level 1
inputs in relation to the current traded market value of gold and silver commodities, and level 3 inputs based on management's assessment
of expected production capacity, annual production volumes, and gold and silver payability. Management have based their assessments
through consultation with external experts as well as through their own knowledge and experience in the industry. Refer to Note 34 for further
details.
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23

Financial instruments (cont.)

23.2 Financial liabilities (cont.)
Analysis of Borrowings
Borrowings are classified based on the amounts that are expected to be settled within the next 12 months and after more than 12 months
from the reporting date, as follows:
Group
Parent
Year ended
Year ended
31 December
31 December
2019
2018
2019
2018
£’000s
£’000s
£’000s
£’000s
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities *
Unamortised finance costs and loan arrangement fees

*

25,366
64,579
89,945
(9,300)
80,645

11,956
55,877
67,833
(17,957)
49,875

15,869
55,649
71,518
(9,300)
62,218

567
55,254
47,799
(17,865)
29,934

The prior year figures have been restated, refer note 7 for further details.

Carrying
Value
£'000
Year ended 31 December 2019
Interest bearing loans and borrowings
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Year ended 31 December 2018
Interest bearing loans and borrowings
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

The Group's principal borrowing arrangements are:
Current
Perennial Enterprise Pty Ltd
Kiwoz Limited
Apex Capital Solutions Pty Ltd
CP Funding 1 PLC
Traxys Europe S.A
Kiwoz Limited
MCAF NQM Nominees Limited
Cato Henning Stonex
Darren Carter
RIVI Opportunity Fund
Non-current
RC Advisors LLC
Audley Funding Plc
Traxys Europe S.A

1 year or less
£'000

Between 1
and 2 years
£'000

Between 2
and 5 years
£'000

Remain
-ing contract
-ual
maturities
£'000

64,129
12,332
76,461

18,229
12,332
30,561

4,724
4,724

41,176
41,176

-

38,052
6,338
44,390

9,089
6,338
15,427

13,082
13,082

15,882
15,882

-

Maturity

Facility
Amount*
£’000s

At Call Drawn as required
At Call
2,136
28-Feb-20
30-Apr-20
17-Apr-20
05-May-20
20-Jun-20
20-Jun-20
30-Jun-20

600
7,623
4,539
3,465
93
801
5,336

31-Dec-20
27-Feb-22

7,623
130,800

Amount Drawn**
2019
2018
£’000s
£’000s

100
2,299
600
3,002
4,880
3,748
104
894
5,329

482
2,299
278
250
4,880
3,748
104
894
5,329

7,623
50,571
-

7,871
26,336
7,368

* The facility amount is translated into pounds at the year end foreign currency exchange rate.
** The amount drawn at year end is the draw down translated into pounds at the date of draw down foreign currency exchange rate.
24

Provision for rehabilitation

Opening balance
Recognised on acquisition
Charged to the profit and loss
Charged to the foreign currency exchange reserve
Closing balance

2019
£’000s

Group
Year ended
31 December
2018
£’000s

4,100
(48)
(8)
4,043

4,298
34
(232)
4,100
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2019
£’000s
-

Parent
Year ended
31 December
2018
£’000s
-

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT.)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

24

Provision for rehabilitation (cont'd)
The Group makes full provision for the future cost of rehabilitating mine sites and related production facilities on a discounted basis at the time
of developing the mines and installing and using those facilities. The rehabilitation provision represents the present value of rehabilitation costs
relating to mine sites, which are expected to be incurred up to 2029, which is when the mine properties are expected to cease operations.
These provisions have been created based on an independent expert's report. These estimates are reviewed regularly to take into account
any material changes to the assumptions. However, actual rehabilitation costs will ultimately depend upon future market prices for the
necessary rehabilitation works required that will reflect market conditions at the relevant time. Furthermore, the timing of rehabilitation is likely
to depend on when the mines cease to produce at economically viable rates. This, in turn, will depend upon future gold, silver and pyrite prices,
which are inherently uncertain.
The provision for rehabilitation has been discounted at a rate of 2.49% (2019: 3.84%) reflecting the 10 year corporate bond rating.

24.1

Accounting Policy - Provision for rehabilitation
Mine rehabilitation costs will be incurred by the Group either while operating, or at the end of the operating life of, the Group’s facilities and
mine properties. The Group assesses its mine rehabilitation provision at each reporting date. The Group recognises a rehabilitation provision
where it has a legal and constructive obligation as a result of past events, and it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount of obligation can be made. The nature of these restoration activities includes:
dismantling and removing structures; rehabilitating mines and tailings dams; dismantling operating facilities; closing plant and waste sites; and
restoring, reclaiming and revegetating affected areas.
Changes in the estimated timing of rehabilitation or changes to the estimated future costs are dealt with prospectively by recognising an
adjustment to the rehabilitation liability and a corresponding adjustment to the asset to which it relates, if the initial estimate was originally
recognised as part of an asset measured in accordance with IAS 16. Any reduction in the rehabilitation liability and, therefore, any deduction
from the asset to which it relates, may not exceed the carrying amount of that asset. If it does, any excess over the carrying value is taken
immediately to the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
If the change in estimate results in an increase in the rehabilitation liability and, therefore, an addition to the carrying value of the asset, the
Group considers whether this is an indication of impairment of the asset as a whole, and if so, tests for impairment. If, for mature mines, the
estimate for the revised mine assets net of rehabilitation provisions exceeds the recoverable value, that portion of the increase is charged
directly to expense.
Over time, the discounted liability is increased for the change in present value based on the discount rates that reflect current market
assessments and the risks specific to the liability. The periodic unwinding of the discount is recognised in the statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as part of finance costs.

24.2

Accounting Policy - Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that an
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount
of the obligation. When the Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example, under an insurance contract, the
reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset, but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to a provision is
presented in the statement of profit or loss net of any reimbursement.
If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects, when appropriate, the
risks specific to the liability. When discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance
cost.
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Trade and other payables
Group
Year ended
31 December
2019
2018
£’000s
£’000s
Trade payables
Related party payables
Accruals
Other payables

5,157
330
1,446
5,399
12,332

2,920
1,410
2,009
6,338

Parent
Year ended
31 December
2019
2018
£’000s
£’000s
790
130
1,122
4,409
6,451

899
1,018
1,766
3,683

Accruals principally comprise amounts outstanding for ongoing expenses, some of which may be converted into shares in the Company. Other
payables principally comprise amounts relating to interest and withholding tax associated with debt funding and stamp duty payable on the
acquisition of the Keen Pacific Group, as well as amounts due to subsidiaries within the parent's accounts. The carrying amount of other
payables approximates to its fair value, are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 60 day terms.
25.1

Accounting Policy - Trade and other payables
Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from suppliers.
Accounts payable are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one period or less. If not, they are presented as non-current
liabilities.
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Convertible notes
Group
Year ended
31 December
2019
2018
£’000s
£’000s

Parent
Year ended
31 December
2019
2018
£’000s
£’000s

Convertible notes

1,955

1,457

1,955

1,457

Face value of the notes issued
Value of conversion rights

2,070
(267)
1,803
168
(16)
1,955

1,601
(105)
1,496
143
(182)
1,457

2,070
(267)
1,803
168
(16)
1,955

1,601
(105)
1,496
143
(182)
1,457

Interest amortisation
Conversion during the year

During the financial year, the Group had various convertible notes on issue to various lenders. These notes allow the lenders to convert the
entire principal sum to ordinary shares in the Company at a price between £0.05 to £0.10 on the agreed conversion date. The notes are
interest bearing at rates between 12% and 23% per annum and are eligible for conversion by 27 June 2020.
27

Share capital
Group
Year ended
31 December
2019
2018
£’000s
£’000s
Allotted, called up and fully paid
329,882,271 (2018: 322,117,547)
Ordinary shares of £0.001 each

330

322

Parent
Year ended
31 December
2019
2018
£’000s
£’000s

330

322

During the financial year, 7,764,724 (2018: 39,432,214) ordinary shares of £0.001 each were issued in the Company. A reconciliation of
the share issues has been provided below:
Date Issued
Nature
Shares
Issue Price
Issued
Balance as at 31 December 2018
322,117,547
19/01/2019
Paid up ordinary shares
1,290,909 11p
19/01/2019
Paid up ordinary shares
490,909 11p
05/03/2019
Share based payment
1,367,521 6.2p
18/12/2019
Paid up ordinary shares
4,615,385 6.5p
Balance as at 31 December 2019
27.1

329,882,271

Accounting policy - Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new ordinary shares or options are shown in
equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

28

Share-based payment transactions
The measurement requirements of IFRS 2 have been implemented in respect of share options granted by the Company. The cost
recognised for option based payments made during the year is £nil (2018: £1,733,704).
The following table illustrates the number and weighted average exercise price (WAEP) of, and movements in share options during the year.
The options outstanding at 31 December 2019 had a WAEP of 0.097p (2018: 0.097p). All share options are settled in form of equity issued.
No. of Options
169,926,920
21,000,000
190,926,920
1,367,521
(1,367,521)
190,926,920

As at 31 December 2017
Granted during the year
As at 31 December 2018
Granted during the year
Exchanged for shares
As at 31 December 2019
The inputs into the binomial option pricing model are as follows:
Category
Number of options granted
Share price at grant date
Exercise price
Options life in years
Risk free rate
Expected volatility
Expected dividend yield
Fair value of options/warrants
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Input
190,926,920
0.06p – 0.146p
0.06p – 0.22p
5 years
0.81%
60%
0%
0.02p - 0.09p

WAEP
0.098
0.093
0.097
0.065
(0.065)
0.097

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT.)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

28

Share-based payment transactions (cont'd)
There are no vesting conditions and the options are exercisable immediately, therefore 190,926,920 share options are exercisable at the
end of the period. All options have a 5 years expiry date with the final options expiring in August 2023.
Expected volatility is a measure of the amount by which a price is expected to fluctuate during a period. The measure of volatility used in
option pricing models is the annualised standard deviation of the continuously compounded rates of return on the share over a period of time.

28.1

Accounting policies - Share-based payment transactions
Directors and key consultants of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based payments, whereby services are rendered as
consideration for equity instruments (equity-settled transactions). The cost of equity-settled transactions is determined by the fair value at the
date when the transaction is entered into with reference to the underlying equity instrument.
The cost of equity-settled transactions is determined by the fair value at the date when the grant is made using an appropriate valuation model,
further details of which are given in Note 28. That cost is recognised in employee benefits expense, together with a corresponding increase in
equity (option reserve), over the period in which the service and, where applicable, the performance conditions are fulfilled (the vesting period).
The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at each reporting date until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the
vesting period has expired and the Group's best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The expense or credit
in the statement of profit or loss for a period represents the movement in cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that
period.

29

Notes to the cash flow statement
Group
Year ended
31 December
2019
2018
£’000s
£’000s
Reconciliation of loss before tax to cash utilised in operations
Loss after tax
Adjustments for:
- Depreciation charges
- Foreign exchange differences
- Option-based payment
- Finance costs
- Gold and silver streaming
- Royalties
- Income tax
Changes in working capital:
- Increase in trade and other receivables
- Increase in inventories
- Increase in trade and other payables
- Decrease in deferred taxes
Cash utilised in/from operations
*

(35,927)

(27,862)

66
747
9,646
4,223
754
(165)

153
636
1,733
7,602
3,719
(671)
-

(1,651)
2,487
5,996
(878)
(14,703)

(981)
(452)
3,041
(401)
(13,483)

Foreign
exchange
movement
(86)
(421)
(508)

At 31
December
2019
57,950
24,651
82,601

The prior year figures have been restated, refer to note 7 for further details.

29.1 Net debt

Long-term borrowings
Short-term borrowings
Total

At 1
January
2019
37,942
13,391
51,333

Cash
flows
8,436
8,863
17,299

Non-cash m ovements
Change in fair
Effective
value
interest
movement
4,977
6,681
(162)
2,980
(162)
4,977
9,661

Value of
convertible
equity

The Group has elected to report finance costs through operating cash flows and have not been disclosed in the reconciliation above.
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Related party transactions
Transactions with related parties are made on terms equivalent to those that prevail in arm’s length transactions. For the year ended 31
December 2019, the Group has not recorded any impairment of receivables relating to amounts owed by related parties (2018: Nil). This
assessment is undertaken each financial year by examining the financial position of the related party and the market in which the related party
operates. Below are details of all related party transactions and balances during the financial year.
Related Party & Relationship

Transaction

Balance
£’000s

Walter Doyle is a director of the
company

Equity
£’000s

As at 31 December 2019, an amount
of £191,513 (2018: £172,428) was
owed to the Group by Walter Doyle.
This loan is interest-free, repayable
on demand.

Selected Ventures Pty Ltd is an
entity associated with and
controlled by Walter Doyle,
Director of the Company.

During the financial year, the Group
was charged consulting fees
amounting to £nil (2018: £741,071).

As at 31 December 2019, an amount
of £310,978 (2018: £nil) was owed
to the Group by Selected Ventures
Pty Ltd. This loan was interest-free,
repayable on demand and was
personally guaranteed by Walter
Doyle.

Intergroup Mining Ltd is an
entity associated with and
controlled by Walter Doyle,
Director of the Company. Steve
White (KMP) and Brian
Stockbridge (Director) are also
Directors of Intergroup Mining
Ltd.

During the financial year, the Group
was recharged accounting fees
amounting to 2019: £48,066 (2018:
£4,868), travel amounting to 2019:
£208,148 (2018: £128,367) and
consulting fees amounting to 2019:
£17,838.27 (2018: £51,562) which
were paid for on behalf of the
Group.

As at 31 December 2019, an amount
of 2019: £291,511 (2018: -£76,643)
was owed by the Group to Intergroup
Mining Ltd. This loan is interest-free,
unsecured
and
repayable
on
demand.

Direct Energy Holdings Pty Ltd
is an entity associated with and
controlled by Walter Doyle,
Director of the Company.

During the financial year, the Group
paid accounting fees on behalf of
Direct Energy Holdings Pty Ltd
amounting to 2019: £1,813 (2018:
£nil).

As at 31 December 2019, an amount
of 2019: £12,944 (2018:- £11,632)
was owed by the Group to Direct
Energy Holdings Pty Ltd. This loan is
interest-free,
unsecured
and
repayable on demand.

Jodo Gold Pty Ltd is an entity
associated with and controlled
by Walter Doyle, Director of the
Company.

During the financial year, the Group
paid accounting fees on behalf of
Jodo Gold Pty Ltd amounting to
2019:
£4,823
(2018:
£nil),
consulting fees amounting to 2019:
£5,000 (2018: £nil) which were paid
for on behalf of the Group.

As at 31 December 2019, an amount
of 2019: £11,902 (2018: £7,473) was
owed to the Group by Jodo Gold Pty
Ltd. This loan is interest-free,
unsecured
and
repayable
on
demand.

Axatan Pty Ltd is an entity
associated with and controlled
by Walter Doyle, Director of the
Company.

During the financial year, the Group
paid accounting fees on behalf of
Axatan Pty Ltd amounting to 2019:
£715 (2018: £nil) which were paid
for on behalf of the Group.

As at 31 December 2019, an amount
of 2019: £4,944 (2018: £4,420) was
owed to the Group by Axatan Pty Ltd.
This loan is interest-free, unsecured
and repayable on demand.

Energy Storage Pty Ltd is an
entity associated with and
controlled by Walter Doyle,
Director of the Company.

During the financial year, the Group
paid accounting fees on behalf of
Energy Storage Pty Ltd amounting
to 2019: £108 (2018: £nil) which
were paid for on behalf of the
Group.

As at 31 December 2019, an amount
of 2019: £1,486 (2018: £1,438) was
owed to the Group by Energy Storage
Pty Ltd. This loan is interest-free,
unsecured
and
repayable
on
demand.

Tarver Partners is an entity
associated with and controlled
by Walter Doyle, Director of the
Company

The Company was charged 2019:
£45,000 (2018: £350,000) for
consulting services provided and
was
recharged
travel
costs
amounting to 2019: £nil (2018:
£8,427) paid for on behalf of the
Group.

Lanmark Fiduciary Company
Ltd is an entity associated with
and controlled by Walter Doyle,
Director of the Company.

The Group was charged £nil (2018:
£nil) for consulting services
provided.

The Company was charged
£329,316 (2018: £300,000) for
director services provided and was
recharged travel costs amounting
to £4,266.48 (2018: £85,605) paid
for on behalf of the Group.
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As at 31 December 2019, the Group
owed Colin Sutherland £119,554
(2018: £136,620).
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Related party transactions (cont.)
Related Party & Relationship

Transaction

Balance

Equity

£’000s

£’000s

Brian Stockbridge is a Director of
the Company

The Company was charged
£43,200 (2018: £43,200) for
director services provided and
was recharged travel costs
amounting to £11,070 (2018:
£15,100) paid for on behalf of the
Group.

As at 31 December 2019, an amount of
£7,200 (2018:£nil) was owed to Brian
Stockbridge.

Greg Lane is a Director of the
Company

The Company was charged
2019: £23,817 (2018: £25,198)
for director services provided.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group owed
Greg Lane 2019: £2,061 (2018: £nil)

Bryan Smart is a Director of the
Company who resigned in
January 2019.

The Company was charged
2019:£1,419 (2018: £24,000) for
services provided.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group owed
Bryan Smart 2019: £nil (2018: £6,000).

Everyday Hire Pty Ltd is an entity
for which Roger Jackson acts as
a Director and has significant
influence over.

The
Group
was
charged
£239,812 (2018: £188,512) for
services provided for travel,
rental
equipment
and
administrative costs.

Perennial Enterprise Pty Ltd is an
entity which is 51% owned by
First Sentinel Plc, a company
which Brian Stockbridge is a
director of along with 5 other
unrelated board members to the
Group. First Sentinel Plc’s
interest in Perennial Enterprise
Pty Ltd was acquired in
December 2017, subsequent to
when Perennial Enterprise Pty
Ltd commenced business with
the Group. Transactions with the
Group have remained on
consistent
terms
since
acquisition. Brian Stockbridge is
not a director of Perennial
Enterprise Pty Ltd, does not have
involvement in its day to day
operations, and does not directly
benefit from the transactions with
the Group.

During the financial year, the
Group was charged interest
amounting to 2019: £168,647
(2018: £52,896). The interest has
been charged in accordance with
the lending terms under the
finance facility.

RIVI Opportunity Fund and RC
Advisors LLC are significantly
influenced by Kevin Puil who was
appointed on the Company's
board during the financial year.

£’000s

As at 31 December 2019, an amount of
2019: £99,758 (2018: £482,423) was
owed by the Group. This loan is interest
bearing at an average rate of 35.70%.

As at 31 December 2019, an amount of
£5,336,170 and £7,623,100 was owed by
the Group. These loans are interest
bearing at a rate of 12% per annum, have
first ranking security and are repayable
over a 3 year period. The loans also have
an embedded derivative relating to the
gold and silver streaming which have a fair
value of £6,901,000 as at 31 December
2018. Refer to Note for further details.

Mastermind Alliance Pty Ltd is an
entity for which Steve White acts
as a Director and has significant
influence over.

The
Group
was
charged
£117,413 (2018: £148,759) for
services provided.

Commodity and Mining Insight
Ltd is an entity for which Mike
Barden, a key management
personnel, acts as a Director and
has significant influence over.

The
Group
was
charged
£418,298 (2018: £303,951) for
services provided, and was
recharged
travel,
rental
equipment and administrative
costs paid for on behalf of the
Group.

Transactions between the Group and its subsidiaries, which are related parties, have been eliminated on consolidation and are not
disclosed in this note.
31

Contingent liabilities
The parent entity has provided guarantees to its subsidiary, Hellyer Gold Mines Pty Ltd, in connection with the gold and silver streaming
agreements and other loan agreements entered into as detailed in Note 23.2.
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Commitments
32.1

Capital expenditure commitments
In order to maintain current rights of tenure to exploration tenements, the Group is required to perform minimum exploration work to meet the
minimum expenditure requirements specified by various governments. Minimum work and expenditure requirements have not been met,
however the directors have received confirmation from the regulatory authority that the expenditure levels during the financial year have been
accepted. These obligations are subject to periodical renegotiation. These obligations are not provided for in the financial statements and are
payable:
Group
Parent
Year ended
Year ended
31 December
31 December
2019
2018
2019
2018
£’000s
£’000s
£’000s
£’000s
186
867
1,052

Within one year
After one year but not more than five years
More than five years
33

-

56
147
203

-

Financial risk management
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: credit risk, liquidity risk, and market risk. The Group’s overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial
performance.
Credit risk
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Group. The maximum
exposure to credit risk at the reporting date to recognised financial assets is the carrying amount, net of any provisions for impairment of those
assets, as disclosed in the statement of financial position and notes to the financial statements. The Group does not hold any collateral over
these amounts.
The Group has a credit risk exposure of £3,050,137 (2018: £1,305,000) of unsecured amounts receivable, and £1,326,000 (2018:
£1,068,000,000) of secured amounts receivable. Management has determined that these receivables are not impaired at 31 December
2019 (2018: Nil). The collateral is outlined in note 23.1.
Liquidity risk
The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash reserves and available borrowing facilities by continuously monitoring
actual and forecast cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities.
The Group had an unused borrowing facility of £80,228,612 (2018: £63,492,000) at 31 December 2019 from Audley Funding PLC. This
facility is available only to the extent that Audley Funding Plc raises funds under the bond.
Differences between the carrying amount and contractual amount of the Group's borrowings at maturity are as follows:

- cumulative financial liabilities
- net amount payable at maturity

Note 23

2019
£’000s

Group
Year ended
31 December
2018
£’000s

2019
£’000s

Parent
Year ended
31 December
2018
£’000s

80,645
(62,339)
18,306

49,875
(59,681)
(9,806)

62,218
(55,562)
6,655

29,934
(49,189)
(19,256)

The net amount payable at maturity only takes into account principal amounts drawn at 31 December 2019, and not unused facility
amounts of £100,671 (2018: £63,492,000).
Remaining contractual maturities
The following tables detail the Group's remaining contractual maturity for its financial liabilities. The tables have been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which its financial instruments are required to be paid. The tables
include both interest and principal cash flows disclosed as remaining contractual maturities and therefore these totals may differ from their
carrying amount in the statement of financial position.
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Financial risk management (cont.)
Liquidity risk (cont.)

Consolidated 2019
Secured borrowings at amortised cost
Perennial Enterprise Pty Ltd
Kiwoz Limited
CP Funding 1 PLC
Kiwoz Limited
MCAF NQM Nominees Limited
Darren Carter
Cato Henning Stonex
RIVI Opportunity Fund
RC Advisors LLC
Audley Funding PLC
Traxys Europe S.A.
Derivative financial liabilities
Gold and silver streaming
Royalty payables
Consolidated 2018
Secured borrowings at amortised cost
Perennial Enterprise Pty Ltd
Kiwoz Limited
Apex Capital Solutions Pty Ltd
CP Funding 1 PLC
Kiwoz Limited
MCAF NQM Nominees Limited
Darren Carter
Cato Henning Stonex
RIVI Opportunity Fund
RC Advisors LLC
Audley Funding PLC
Traxys Europe S.A.
Derivative financial liabilities
Gold and silver streaming
Royalty payables

Carrying
Value
£'000

1 year or less
£'000

100
2,136
1,296
3,113
2,477
666
77
5,240
4,724
41,176
3,125

100
2,136
1,296
3,113
2,477
666
77
5,240
3,125

4,724
-

11,708
3,056
78,893

2,383
331
20,943

2,517
610
7,851

482
2,203
250
250
1,876
1,577
572
61
4,585
2,829
15,882
7,485

482
2,203
250
250
5,903

1,876
1,577
572
61
4,585
2,829
1,582

1,922
317
11,327

1,337
534
14,953

6,901
2,302
47,255

Between 1
and 2 years
£'000

Between 2 Remaining contractual
and 5 years maturities
£'000
£'000

41,176
5,034
1,956
48,166

15,882
2,424
935
19,241

1,773
159
1,932

1,218
513
1,731

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market
risk comprises two types of risks: interest rate risk and foreign currency risk. Financial instruments affected by market risk include financial
liabilities, financial assets and derivative financial instruments.
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest
rates. The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates is low as its financial liabilities incur a rate on borrowings between
12% - 23% per annum, with only 16% of its current financing on a variable rate. Management consider this to be insignificant to the financial
performance of the Group.
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign
exchange rates. The Group is exposed to movement in foreign currency exchange rates arising from normal trading transactions that are
denominated in currencies other than the respective functional currencies of the Group entities.
The carrying amounts of the Group's foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities at the reporting date are as follows:
Assets
Year ended
31 December
2019
2018
£’000s
£’000s
Consolidated
Australian dollars
US dollars *
Great British pounds

3,912
2,064
226
6,202

2,215
727
375
3,317

Liabilities
Year ended
31 December
2019
2018
£’000s
£’000s
57,154
33,973
3,806
94,933

12,551
31,047
14,073
57,671

* The prior year figures have been restated, refer to note 7 and 23 for further details.
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in US dollars and Australian dollars exchange rates, with all
other variables held constant. The impact on the Group's loss before tax is due to changes in the fair value of monetary assets and liabilities.
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Financial risk management (cont.)
Market risk (cont.)
Change in
USD rate
2019

+ 5%
- 5%
+ 5%
- 5%

2018

Effect on

Effect on loss before tax
£’000s

assets £’000s

(1,595)
1,595
(1,516)
1,516

Change in

103
(103)
36
(36)
Effect on

Effect on loss before tax
AUD rate
2019

assets £’000s

+ 5%
- 5%
+ 5%
- 5%

2018

(2,662)
2,662
(517)
517

196
(196)
111
(111)

Effect on
liabilities
£’000s
1,699
(1,699)
1,552
(1,552)
Effect on
liabilities
£’000s
2,858
(2,858)
628
(628)

Capital Management Policy
For the purpose of the Group’s capital management, capital includes issued capital and all other equity reserves attributable to the equity
holders of the parent. The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in
order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure appropriate for its
growth plans. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure the Group may issue new shares or alter debt levels.
34

Fair value measurement
The following table provides the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group's assets and liabilities.

Financial Statement Area

Sensitivity by
Date of
change in +/Valuation 300 basis
points

Total

£’000s

Quoted
prices in
active
markets
(Level 1)
£’000s

Significant
observable
inputs (Level
2)

Significant
observable
inputs (Level
3)

£’000s

£’000s

Derivative financial liabilities
Gold and silver streaming agreements have
been entered into in connection with financing
arrangements which utilise level 3 inputs in their
valuations. These liabilities are valued based on
a discounted cashflow method utilising a
discount rate of 30% representing the effective
interest rate of the borrowings.

A royalty agreement has been entered into in
connection with financing arrangements which
utilise level 3 inputs in their valuations. The
liabilities are valued based on a discounted
cashflow method utilising a discount rate of
30% representing the effective interest rate of
the borrowings.
34.1

31 Dec
2019

£

262,000

11,708

-

-

11,708

31 Dec
2018

£

551,000

6,901

-

-

6,901

31 Dec
2019

£

623,000

3,056

-

-

3,056

31 Dec
2018

£

216,000

2,302

-

-

2,302

Accounting policy - Fair value measurement
The Group measures financial instruments such as derivatives, and non-financial assets acquired as part of business combinations, such as
inventory and plant and equipment, at fair value at each balance sheet date or at date of acquisition, as appropriate.
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability
takes place either:
• In the principal market for the asset or liability; or
• in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.
The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group.
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.
A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.
The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data is available to measure fair
value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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Fair value measurement (cont.)

34.1

Accounting policy - Fair value measurement (cont.)
All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value
hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:
• Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
• Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is directly or
indirectly observable;
• Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
unobservable.
For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements at fair value on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period. There have been no transfers between hierarchies during the
period. The Directors determine the policies and procedures for fair value measurements. External valuers are involved for valuation of
significant assets or where additional expertise is required.

35

Events after the reporting period
On 29 June 2020, The Group entered into a formal asset purchase agreement for 100% of the historic high grade Beaconsfield Gold Mine in
Tasmania. The A$ 2million purchase price includes processing plant, tailings dams, associated infrastructure, property rights, mining leases,
and related mining permits.
Subsequent to year end, NQ Minerals PLC and its subsidiary Hellyer Gold Mines Pty Ltd have agreed a US$41m banking refinancing facility
with ING Bank N.V. that was initially raised to start mining and processing at its flagship Hellyer base and precious metals operation in
Tasmania. The facility comprises a 6 year amortising loan with a coupon rate of Libor + 6.5%. The facility drawdown is now only subject to
completion of final documentation and the normal commercial terms previously agreed with ING, and documentation is well advanced in this
respect. It also includes an accordion option to increase the amount up to USD 55 million, subject to further conditions, including credit
committee approval for the further amountThis allows NQ and Hellyer to retire a portion of the initial project startup and commissioning debt
and replace this expensive 12% debt with funding that has a significantly lower interest rate and is more aligned with the project's maturity and
projected life. Completion of the facility and potential draw down of funds is subject to final documentation and a number of conditions precedent
customary to a facility of this nature, including final Credit Committee and Board approvals.
Subsequent to year end, the global pandemic of COVID-19 has had a significant impact on various industries including the market for base
and precious metals. The impact of the pandemic has been assessed with regards to the Group however due to the uncertainty of the
situation, the Group is unable to quantify the impact and will continue to assess the situation as it evolves. The Hellyer operation has been
classified essential by the Tasmanian Government, that operations continue normally and has there has been no material change. There
remains a risk of imposed unexpected interruption of production. Demand for industrial metals has been affected by the pandemic and prices
of all commodities have been disrupted. It cannot be predicted whether the pandemic will have a permanent effect on prices and due to the
uncertainties around the pandemic, the long term effect on the commodity prices cannot be predicted, however management are continually
assessing the situation and the impact on the Group.
Subsequent to year end, an inquiry has been made with the HM Revenue and Customs to change the tax residency of the Group from the
United Kingdom to Australia. The matter is being considered and there is no substantial evidence to conclude on the changes to the tax
residency of the Group as at 31 December 2019.
On 15 January 2020 Hellyer raised £310,903 (gross) at 7 pence per share from a UK based Institutional investor for general working capital
purposes and Hellyer issued 4,441,471 new ordinary shares under this equity issue.
On 10 February 2020, Hellyer has raised £210,100 (gross) at 7 pence per share from a UK based Institutional investor and a private investor
for general working capital purposes and the Company issued 3,001,428 new ordinary shares under this equity issue.
On 6 March 2020 Hellyer raised £176,667 (gross) at 7 pence per share from a UK based Institutional investor and a group of private investors
for general working capital purposes and the Company issued 2,523,815 new ordinary shares under this equity issue.
On 11 May 2020, the Company has raised £150,694 (gross) at 5.75 pence per share from a UK based Institutional investor and a private
investor for general working capital purposes and the Company issued 2,620,766 new ordinary shares under this equity issue.
On 21 May 2020 the Company raised £189,500 (gross) at 7 and 7.5 pence per share from a UK based Institutional investor and private
investors for general working capital purposes and the Company issued 2,699,999 new ordinary shares under this equity issue.
On 8 June 2020 the Company raised £118,743 (gross) at 7.5 pence per share from a UK based Institutional investor and private investors for
general working capital purposes and the Company issued 1,583,241 new ordinary shares under this equity issue.
On 7 July 2020 the Company raised £917,486 (gross) at 6.5 pence per share for general working capital purposes and to accelerate the reopening of the Beaconsfield Gold Mine and the Company issued 14,115,154 new ordinary shares under this equity issue.
On 30 July 2020 the Company raised £447,500 (gross) at 7 pence per share from a UK based Institutional investor and a private investor for
general working capital purposes and the Company issued 6,392,857 new ordinary shares under this equity issue.
Subsequent to year end, the Group's shares have listed in the USA through the OTC Markets. The Group now has an American Depository
Receipt (“ADR”) traded in the United States. The Group has also engaged specialists DGWA in Germany to seek a listing on the Frankfurt
Stock Exchange (“Börse Frankfurt).
Mineral Resources Tasmania has approved the transfer of the 100% rights to the 46 km(2) Mt Block permit (EL48/2003), which surrounds
the Hellyer Mining Lease. NQ purchased the Mt Block from Bass Metals Ltd.
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Controlling party
There is no ultimate controlling party for the company.
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